REDEFINING PEACE:

INTERLINKAGES OF CONFLICT, GENDER, AND SRHR

BFFOW

thematic papers

2018

Biplabi Shrestha

championing women's sexual and reproductive rights





Redefining Peace: Interlinkages of Conflict, Gender, and SRHR

Biplabi Shrestha

2018

ISBN: 978-967-0339-43-6

CC () (S) BY NC

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 International License. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/. Any part of the text of the publication may be photocopied, reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form by any means, or adapted and translated to meet local needs, for non-commercial and non-profit purposes. However, the copyright for images used remains with respective copyright holders. All forms of copies, reproductions, adaptations, and translations through mechanical, electrical, or electronic means should acknowledge ARROW as the source. A copy of the reproduction, adaptation, and/or translation should be sent to ARROW. In cases of commercial usage, contact ARROW for permission at arrow@arrow.org.my.

Publisher:

Asian-Pacific Resource & Research Centre for Women (ARROW)

1 & 2 Jalan Scott, Bricksfield, 50470 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Telephone	00 603 2273 9913/9914
Fax	00 603 2273 9916
E-mail	arrow@arrow.org.my
Web	www.arrow.org.my
Facebook	https://www.facebook.com/ARROW.Women
Twitter	@ARROW_Women
Youtube	ARROWomen
Pinterest	arrowomen

Co-published by:

Asia-Pacific Women's Alliance for Peace and Security (APWAPS) https://apwaps.net/

Production Team:

Authors: Biplabi Shrestha Overall Coordination: Mangala Namasivayam External Thematic Review: Thiloma Munasinghe and Andy Yentriyani Internal Thematic Review: Azra Abdul Cader, Mangala Namasivayam, Maria Melinda Ando, Sai Jyothirmai Racherla, and Sivananthi Thanenthiran Copy Editing: Cezar R. Tigno and Preeti Kannan Layout/Graphic Design: Nicolette Mallari Photo Credit: Sk Hasan Ali/Shutterstock, idome/Shutterstock

Shrestha, Biplabi. *Redefining Peace: Interlinkages of Conflict, Gender and SRHR*. Kuala Lumpur: Asian-Pacific Resource & Research Centre for Women (ARROW), 2018.

CONTENTS

-
- **3 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**
- 4 LIST OF ACRONYMS
- 5 INTRODUCTION
- 8 UNDERSTANDING CONFLICT AND PEACE THROUGH A FEMINIST LENS
- 9 UNPACKING INTERLINKAGES: CONFLICT, GENDER, AND SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND RIGHTS
- **18** EXISTING INTERNATIONAL INSTRUMENTS
- 22 CONCLUSIONS
- 23 MOVING FORWARD
- 25 ENDNOTES
- 29 BIBLIOGRAPHY

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thematic paper unpacks and examines the gendered impact of conflict on women and girls in Asia and on their sexual and reproductive health and rights (SRHR). The author uses a feminist lens to analyse conflict and peace. The paper would not have been possible without the overall guidance and support provided by Sivananthi Thanenthiran, ARROW's Executive Director. The author sincerely acknowledges her insightful contributions, inspirations, and encouragement during various stages of the development of this paper.

The author is grateful for all the contributions made by external and internal reviewers including ARROW colleagues. Their constructive inputs and feedback helped shape the paper to be more analytical, informative, and relevant.

Sincere thanks also to the copy editors for their tireless efforts in ensuring that the paper meets academic requirements, and to the layout designer for their creative inputs.

LIST OF ACRONYMS

Beijing Platform for Action **BPfA** CEDAW Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women **CSO**s **Civil Society Organisations** General Recommendation GR ICPD International Conference on Population and Development ICRC International Committee of the Red Cross IDP Internally Displaced Persons GAM Gerakan Aceh Merdeka PoA Programme of Action Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam LTTE MISP Minimum Initial Service Package MMR Maternal Mortality Rate **MNLF** Moro National Liberation Front NAP National Action Plans **Reproductive Health** RH SDG Sustainable Development Goals SOGIE Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity and Gender Expression SRH Sexual and Reproductive Health SRHR Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Sexual Violence in Conflict SRSG-SVC STI Sexually Transmitted Infections UN **United Nations** UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees UNSC United Nations Security Council United Nations Security Council Resolutions UNSCR USAID United States Agency for International Development WPS Women, Peace, and Security

REDEFINING PEACE: INTERLINKAGES OF CONFLICT, GENDER, AND SRHR

Biplabi Shrestha

INTRODUCTION

.

Conflict prevention,¹ conflict resolution and peacebuilding² are critical issues that need to be addressed to achieve sustainable development and global peace. The unprecedented and repeated crises, the scale of destruction and innumerable casualties as a result of conflicts, not only pose demanding challenges, but also expose the deep-rooted structural inequalities and violence in the world.

During the Second World War, nationalist ideologies drove conflicts. However, in present history, conflicts are increasingly driven by religious and ethnic ideologies.³ In several former colonies, ethnic identities became dominant in the sociopolitical discourse in determining citizenship and belonging. Religion was used by governments and others to marginalise certain segments of the population (an amalgamation of ethnic politics and religion that results in ethno-nationalism) on the grounds of being inferior to the majority. Women's bodies are used for upholding the values of one religion and using it as a source to ensure continuity of a race, to abolish threats to the wellbeing of the race by another religious group, and many more. Minority ethnic groups were not recognised, largely ignored, or viciously targeted through the national discourse as "the other." Wars perpetrated either in the name of religion or in the name of rooting out religious terrorism have also

The nature, effect, and impact of conflicts are gendered and affect men and women differently. Men and boys are usually targeted for conscriptions, but women and girls suffer disproportionately, and in many ways, the cost of conflict adversely affects their sexual and reproductive health and rights. caused countless deaths. Constitutional guarantees to protect a religion are increasingly used to limit the rights of minorities and justify marginalisation and oppression on various fronts.

Conflicts have a far-reaching devastating impact, resulting in a humanitarian crises because of widespread displacement; suffering due to the cumulative impact on basic services, and livelihoods; even as people's security and respect for their dignity remain essential needs.⁴ Protracted conflicts in many parts of the world have led to the total breakdown of social, political, economic, and judicial systems and have resulted in violence being normalised, forcing states to remain fragile⁵ for long periods of time.⁶ The world today has the largest number of internally displaced peoples (IDPs)⁷ and refugees⁸ since the Second World War.9 According to the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), there were nearly 65.6 million forcibly displaced people worldwide in 2016, of which 22.5 million were refugees and 10 million were stateless.¹⁰ About 55% of refugees came from three countries: Afghanistan, South Sudan, and Syria.¹¹ Women and girls make up around 50% of any refugee, internally displaced, or stateless population.12

According to the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, there were nearly 65.6 million forcibly displaced people worldwide in 2016, of which 22.5 million were refugees and 10 million were stateless. Women and girls make up around 50% of any refugee, internally displaced or stateless population.

The nature, effect, and impact of conflicts are gendered and affect men and women differently. Men and boys are usually targeted for conscriptions, but women and girls suffer disproportionately, and in many ways, the cost of conflict adversely affects their sexual and reproductive health and rights (SRHR).¹³ However, women are not a homogenous group and their experiences of conflict can be diverse. Women are not just victims of conflict; they play active roles during conflicts and in peace-building. Despite this, women and girls' experiences are often undocumented, and they are made invisible at peace negotiation tables. As their voices and experiences are not heard, this very often results in a genderblind approach to peace that is unsustainable and one that perpetuates the cycle of violence and conflict. Gender blind approaches also ignore women and girls' SRHR during conflict and humanitarian crises. As a response to the wars in Rwanda and Bosnia in the 90s, several international and intergovernmental initiatives were taken to provide access to basic health care including sexual and reproductive health (SRH) services and family planning for refugees and IDPs.¹⁴ Such responses have led to a surge in both efforts and studies addressing the gender dimensions of conflict with a focus on SRH and sexual violence.¹⁵ Despite this progress, studies focusing on comprehensive SRHR through a gender and rights-based lens are limited. To address this gap, this thematic paper analyses the gendered impact of conflict on women and girls in Asia. The paper draws upon existing studies

BRIEF OVERVIEW OF CONFLICTS IN ASIA

Asia continues to see the longest running conflicts more than anywhere else in the world, with some going on for multiple generations, at an average length of 45 years.¹⁶ As of February 2016, the Asia- Pacific region was home to over 8.5 million persons of concern to UNHCR, including some 3.9 million refugees and 2.9 million IDPs.¹⁷

Most of the conflicts in the region are internal (82%) rather than across borders, although many have inter-state, regional, and even international dimensions.¹⁸ Subnational conflicts in the region constitute 60% of the world's active conflicts and many are recurring conflicts.¹⁹ Most result from deep-rooted structural problems such as discriminatory policies and practices by the state or local authorities, collusive relations between national and local elites, who marginalise some minority populations, and entrenched horizontal inequalities²⁰ that lead to concentration of power and resources in some ethnic groups.²¹ While some conflicts are a manifestation of frustration due to asymmetrical power relations between authorities and minorities demanding their rights, others are for equal distribution of resources, control over natural resources and land, as well as for equal access in decision-making, power, and authority.

The perceived grievances between ethnic groups are usually over power and resources, which are often linked to historical differences and demands by minority ethnic groups to maintain their language, culture, and identity.²² Countries such as Indonesia, Myanmar, Philippines and Sri Lanka have experienced internal strife caused by ethnic tensions in the last few decades.²³ India continues to experience tribal uprising against mining companies, whereas Nepal saw a decade long Maoist insurgency, also known as People's War against feudalism and social, economic, and political inequalities.

In South Asia, the territorial dispute between India and Pakistan over Kashmir is known as the region's longest war with no sign of ending. Southeast Asia is more prone to conflict over territorial and maritime boundaries than other regions. Disputes over the South China Sea, which is rich in natural resources is one of the longest running conflicts involving both islands and maritime claims have emerged from Brunei, China, Malaysia, the Philippines, Taiwan, and Vietnam. They are all competing for territorial and jurisdictional claims, especially over rights to exploit the extensive reserves of oil and gas,²⁴ fishing areas, and shipping lanes. In addition, the US has been backing countries that oppose Chinese claims to certain islands in the area²⁵ through military support. Amidst rising tensions between the Philippines and China, a recent international tribunal has ruled that China's claim over some of the islands is illegal.²⁶ However, China has refused to recognise the ruling despite it being legally binding to both the countries and this has kept the issue unresolved to date.

to examine the impact of conflict on SRHR, analyse existing international instruments that address the impact of conflicts on women and girls, and to outline recommendations.

The understanding of gender should not be limited to just men and women even in times of conflict. Though experiences of people with different sexual orientations and gender identities (SOGIE) in conflict are unique, the scope of this paper will cover primarily women and girls with some examples of its impact on people with different sexual orientations and gender identities. Due to lack of data on SRHR violations such as maternal mortality and early child and forced marriages that is specific to Asia, some examples from the Middle East are used to provide a picture of scale of SRHR violence in times of conflict.

The intended readers of the paper are the international community for peace and security, member states of the United Nations (UN), national governments, civil society organisations (CSOs) and individuals engaged in conflict prevention, resolutions and peace-building processes, and SRHR activists.

Southeast Asia has also witnessed a range of separatist movements, many of which are still on going. All these separatist movements are the result of religious, cultural, or ethnic marginalisation. There are no signs of resolution in the Mindanao conflict in the Philippines despite various peace agreements since 2001. The region continues to be marred by armed conflicts with the rise of the Abu Sayyaf Group, which broke away from the Moro National Liberation Front (MNLF) in 1991 as it disagreed with their policy of pursuing autonomy for Mindanao and wanted to establish an independent Islamic state.²⁷

In Indonesia, a peace agreement was signed in 2005 to end 29 years of unrest involving the Free Aceh Movement, also known as Gerakan Aceh Merdeka (GAM), which resulted in Aceh becoming a special autonomous province. However, the province is not free from violence due to the animosity between Muslims and the Christian minority. In Myanmar, despite the installation of a civilian government, fighting between the government and the Kachin Independence Army continues.²⁸ Similarly, the Muslim Rohingya minority are victims of communal violence and persecution by the Myanmar government, causing it to be dubbed one of the gravest humanitarian crises today. With the wave of violence since August 2017 and the extent of atrocities perpetrated especially against Rohingya women and girls, it is now referred to as the "textbook example of ethnic cleansing" and the Rohingyas are described as the "world's most persecuted minority." The International Crisis Group has

listed the Rohingya crisis as one of the 10 conflicts around the world to watch for in 2018 for both Myanmar and Bangladesh, due to the scale of assault that led to at least 655,000 Rohingyas fleeing to Bangladesh in August 2017.²⁹ The other country from Asia on the list is Afghanistan, due to its absolute military strategy and increase in US forces against the Taliban insurgency with stronger airstrikes and more aggressive ground offensives by the Afghan forces.³⁰

Asia is also witnessing terror attacks from extremist groups at an alarming rate. The political climate in the region akin to its global counterparts—is dominated by the war on terror, which started post-9/11 and accelerated with the invasion of Iraq in 2003. These gave rise to ideologies that are restrictive and at odds with liberalism, pluralism, women's rights, and sexuality rights³¹ in countries such as Afghanistan, Bangladesh, and Pakistan. These also point to intersections between religious fundamentalisms, extremism, and conflict.

Though causes of the conflict are diverse, the consequences are universal—be it displacement, loss of lives and property, or unabated violence. They have resulted in human rights violations especially against minorities, because of their resistance, including denial of access to basic needs and services,³² further widening the inequality gap based on, but not limited to, age, class, caste, ethnicity, and gender and sexual orientation.

UNDERSTANDING CONFLICT AND PEACE THROUGH A FEMINIST LENS

.

Conflict is a clash or confrontation between two or more parties seeking different, usually opposite outcomes. According to Peter Wallensteen, there are three forms of conflict in the field of international relations: interstate, internal, and stateformation.³³ Currently, discussions around conflict focus more on terrorism and counter terrorism, particularly after 9/11 when there was a significant increase in global militarisation and emphasis on national security. The 'Axis of Evil,' christened so by the former US President George Bush post-9/11, further divided the world causing fear and xenophobia that led to increased military confrontations, global militarisation, and warfare in the name of security. These frames resulted in conflict becoming very narrowly defined, and largely within a masculine norm.

The masculine norm leads to approaches that largely exclude women by undermining their experiences of conflict, militarisation, and national security as well as by silencing SRHR violations against them. This results in an incomplete analysis of the necessary issues, circumstances, incidents and responses—all of which need be captured as solutions integral to creating sustainable peace. Women are not necessarily safe even when the guns are silent as they often experience various forms of insecurities, such as domestic violence and sexual assault in their own homes and neighbourhoods,³⁴ even during post-conflict periods.

Women are not necessarily safe even with the silencing of guns, as they often experience various forms of insecurities such as domestic violence in their own homes and neighbourhoods even during the so-called postconflict periods.

Conflict needs to be more broadly defined to include not only armed conflicts, but also situations of foreign and other forms of occupation, the post-conflict phase,³⁵ and conflicts arising from structural inequities, including gender inequality. This broad definition is a crucial platform for building a comprehensive approach to conflict resolution. The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) Committee has urged the definition of armed conflict to include: "internal disturbances, protracted and low-intensity civil strife, political strife, ethnic and communal violence, states of emergency and suppression of mass uprisings, war against terrorism and organised crime, that may not necessarily be classified as armed conflict under international humanitarian law and which result in serious violations of women's rights and are of particular concern to the Committee."³⁶

Peace cannot be achieved without an inclusive political process, commitment to human rights in the post-conflict period, and attempts to deal with issues of justice and reconciliation. Inclusion and integration of a gender perspective into all spheres — political and personal — are central to feminist concepts of peace.

On the other hand, peace is defined as a political state where citizens enjoy social stability and justice through the means of formal and informal institutions, practices, and norms.³⁷ However, due to the narrow and simplistic interpretation of conflict, peace, for many today, is limited to the laying down of arms and a stable government. Hence, most current approaches to peace are focused on ceasefire,³⁸ political arrangements, and conflict management³⁹ rather than on conflict transformation.⁴⁰ Conflict transformation⁴¹ helps address structural violence, which contextually is both the cause and consequence of conflict.

Peace has to be understood as something far more than just the absence of violence and physical war. Peace cannot be achieved without an inclusive political process, commitment to human rights in the post-conflict period, and attempts to deal with issues of justice and reconciliation.⁴² Inclusion and integration of a gender perspective into all spheres—political and personal—are central to feminist concepts of peace.⁴³ The concept is also premised on the equal participation of women, men, and people of diverse gender identities at all levels and processes; and that it addresses structural violations of human rights and patriarchy by eliminating unjust social relations including unequal gender relations.⁴⁴

UNPACKING INTERLINKAGES: CONFLICT, GENDER, AND SRHR

.

The definition of peace, hence, should be expanded further to emphasise gender equality including the realisation of SRHR for all, particularly women and other marginalised groups and communities. Gender equality and upholding of SRHR for all should be at the heart of peacebuilding. While conflict affects everyone, as established above, the impact of conflict is gendered in nature. It affects men, women, and people of other gender identities and sexual orientation differently due to pre-existing, deep rooted patriarchal norms compounded with socio-cultural inequalities, which become even more pronounced during times of conflict and postconflict. Women and girls experience systemic violence due to existing structural inequalities in our societies. Patriarchal systems that breed structural violence escalate genderbased violence even more visibly with the onset of conflict. While men are targeted for forced recruitments and arbitrary detentions, women become more vulnerable to gender-based

DEFINITIONS

REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH⁴⁶

Reproductive Health implies that people are able to have a responsible, satisfying, and safe sex life, and that they have the capacity to reproduce and the freedom to decide if, when, and how often to do so. Implicit in this are the right of men and women to be informed of, and have access to safe, effective, affordable, and acceptable methods of fertility regulation of their choice and to appropriate healthcare services that will enable women to go safely through pregnancy and childbirth and provide couples with the best chance of a healthy infant (WHO).⁴⁷

REPRODUCTIVE RIGHTS

Reproductive rights embrace certain human rights that are already recognised in national laws, international human rights documents, and other consensus documents. These rights rest on the recognition of the basic right of all couples and individuals to decide freely and responsibly the number, spacing, and timing of their children and to have the information and means to do so, and the right to attain the highest standard of sexual and reproductive health. It also includes their right to make decisions concerning reproduction free of discrimination, coercion, and violence as expressed in human right documents.⁴⁸

SEXUAL HEALTH

A state of physical, emotional, mental, and social wellbeing in relation to sexuality; it is not merely the absence of disease, dysfunction, or infirmity. Sexual health requires a positive and respectful approach to sexuality and sexual relationships, as well as the possibility of having pleasurable and safe sexual experiences, free of coercion, discrimination, and violence. For sexual health to be attained and maintained, the sexual rights of all persons must be respected, protected, and fulfilled. The fulfilment of sexual health is tied to the extent to which human rights are respected, protected, and fulfilled.⁴⁹

SEXUAL RIGHTS

Sexual rights "embrace certain human rights that are already recognised in international and regional human rights documents, other consensus documents, and national laws. Rights critical to the realisation of sexual rights include: the right to equality and non-discrimination; the right to be free from torture or to cruel, inhumane, or degrading treatment or punishment; the right to privacy; the right to the highest attainable standard of health (including sexual health) and social security; the right to marry and to found a family and enter into marriage with the free and full consent of the intending spouses, and to equality in, and at the dissolution of marriage; the right to decide the number and spacing of one's children; the rights to information, as well as education; the rights to freedom of opinion and expression; and the rights to an effective remedy for violations of fundamental rights.

The responsible exercise of human rights requires that all persons respect the rights of others. The application of existing human rights to sexuality and sexual health constitute sexual rights. Sexual rights protect all people's right to fulfil and express their sexuality and enjoy sexual health, with due regards for the rights of others and within a framework of protection against discrimination."⁵⁰

violence like the use of rape as a weapon of humiliation and the deterrent that this pose results in limitations to women's rights and women's mobility in communities. Because women have lower access to resources and less decision-making power within patriarchal systems, their access to health, aid, and legal recourse become severely limited during the time of crises.

Conflicts, however, can also transform gender roles for some women. In the absence of men, they take on decisionmaking and bread-winning roles in the household and in the communities. However, these experiences of women often get undermined in the peace process that lead to gender-blind approaches. Gendered impact of conflict on women and girls, with a focus on their SRHR, is further unpacked in this section with examples from Asia. The interlinkages are also explored under various subheads including violations of SRHR.

VIOLATION OF SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND RIGHTS

SRHR, the right to sexuality and reproduction, are fundamental human rights. Violation of women's SRHR during conflict is largely a result of patriarchal forms of control against women and infringes on women's autonomy to exercise choice in matters related to sexuality and fertility.⁴⁵

Sexual Violence Perpetrated Against Women and Girls: Sexual violence against women and girls in the context of conflict is systemic. It continues to be employed as a tactic of war and terrorism, torture and repression, to humiliate and instil fear in a community, ethnic, religious or political groups, as a means of ethnic cleansing, a means of enjoying the spoils of war for military men, and a means to produce more children to replace dying ones by husbands.⁵¹ Rape, assault, trafficking, sexual slavery, forced pregnancy, forced abortion, forced sterilisation, forced marriage, "forced prostitution,"⁵² and sexual slavery are often perpetrated by both state and nonstate actors.

Even peacekeepers are not an exception when it comes to sexual violence against women. According to the UN, between 2004 and 2016 the United Nations received almost 2,000 allegations of sexual exploitation and abuse against its peacekeepers.⁵³ They were reported to have forced local women to have sex in exchange for food and humanitarian aid.⁵⁴ Sexual misconduct by the senior level officials of Oxfam during Oxfam's humanitarian response to the 2010 Haiti earthquake made headlines recently.⁵⁵ Women and girls are further exposed to and are more vulnerable to sexual violence while escaping conflict and seeking refuge. They face greater risks in transit and displacement settings. The UN Secretary General in his 2017 report, on conflict-related sexual violence, highlighted that many women and girls were subjected to sexual extortion by camp officials or by migrant smugglers in exchange for their assistance and the fear of rape as a factor inhibiting the return of displaced communities to their homelands.⁵⁶

Reports of young Rohingya girls and women being raped during their boat journeys to Malaysia and Thailand, as well as in makeshift camps on the Malaysia-Thai border,⁵⁷ further exemplify their vulnerability at all stages of conflict. In some cases, the level of violence they may experience is determined by caste, class, ability, mobility, civil status, sexual and gender identity, religion, nationality, ethnicity, and location.

The Special Rapporteur on the rights of indigenous peoples, at the 2014 World Conference on Indigenous Peoples in New York, expressed concerns that such acts of violence had not been investigated and prosecuted despite evidence of gang rape, sexual enslavement, and killing of tribal women and girls in a number of countries.⁵⁸ For women and girls, camps and shelters are supposed to be safer than the place they fled, but are ironically not a "refuge" in its true sense. They often face blatant violence and mutilation, demoralisation, and dehumanisation.⁵⁹ The Philippines President Rodrigo Duterte's recent remark to soldiers on Mindanao Island, where he has imposed martial law, that they were allowed to rape three women⁶⁰ is a disturbing example of how the objectification of women is normalised even by state leaders.

Sexual violence against women and girls in the context of conflict is systemic. It continues to be employed as a tactic of war and terrorism, torture and repression, to humiliate and instil fear in a community, ethnic, religious or political groups, as a means of ethnic cleansing, a means of enjoying the spoils of war for military men, and a means to produce more children to replace dying ones by husbands. Though the nature of conflict since the time of the Second World War has changed, the nature of atrocities perpetrated against women remains similar, sexual violence being one of them. One of the most deplorable examples of sexual violence in Asia are the comfort women, who were forced into sexual slavery in Southeast Asian countries for the pleasure of the Imperial Japanese Army. An estimated 200,000 to 400,000 women from all over Asia were forced to become comfort women to the Japanese soldiers during World War II. The women were brutally beaten, raped, and imprisoned throughout Asia under the direct control of the Japanese military.⁶¹ Some of those who are alive are still seeking justice from the government of Japan and its response has been patchy and ad hoc. In 1971, during a nine-month conflict between East and West Pakistan, Bangladeshi women experienced brutal violence as sexual violence was used as an instrument of war to disrupt the racial integrity of Bangladeshis.⁶² An estimated 200,000 to 400,000 Bengali women and girls suffered from some form of sexual and gender-based violence, ranging from abductions to being held in rape camps to forced pregnancy, abortions, and sterilisations.⁶³

In Timor-Leste, a Commission for Reception, Truth, and Reconciliation to study violence perpetrated during the 24year occupation of the Indonesian military, documented 853 counts of sexual violence, including 393 rapes, 229 instances of sexual slavery, and 231 other forms of sexual violence such as forced birth control, torturing pregnant women and resulting miscarriages, and forced abortions.⁶⁴ Gender-based violence, during the Maoists insurgency in Nepal between 1996-2006, such as rape, forced abortions, sexual abuse, and torture, among other violations was significant despite the fact that women constituted 20% of the combatants.⁶⁵ During the civil war in Sri Lanka, violence by the state military and police against Tamil women in Northern and Southern Sri Lanka was rampant.⁶⁶

For some women, sexual violence does not end with conflict. According to a report by the Women's League of Burma, multiple acts of sexual violence against women were perpetrated even as the ceasefire was being implemented.⁶⁷ Human Rights Watch reported that the Burmese security forces had committed widespread rape against Rohingya women and girls as part of their ethnic cleansing campaign in Myanmar's Rakhine state.⁶⁸ The rapes were accompanied by further acts of violence, humiliation and cruelty, where women were beaten with fists or guns, slapped and kicked with boots.⁶⁹ For many of the victims, the impact of the violence is still fresh as they continue to face stigma from their families and communities. They are subjected to physical violence, ostracisation, and victim blaming especially when they have endured sexual abuse. Sexual violence has physical and psychological consequences, such as injuries and disabilities, increased risk of HIV infections and unwanted pregnancies.⁷⁰ Often, the impact of conflict on their SRHR are life-threatening and have long term negative consequences on women.⁷¹ CEDAW committee General Recommendation (GR) 30 recognises that there is a strong association between sexual violence and HIV, including the deliberate transmission of HIV– used as a weapon of war–through rape.⁷² With complete lack of support systems, be it social, psychological, or legal, the victims resort to remaining silent even after the conflict.

For many of the victims, the impact of the violence is still fresh as they continue to face stigma from their families and communities. They are subjected to physical violence, ostracisation, and victim blaming especially when they have endured sexual abuse.

Increased Child, Early, and Forced Marriages: This form of violation of SRHR is not specific to the context of conflict. In many cultures and religions, child, early, and forced marriages are accepted, but it is further exacerbated during conflict. This may be due to shrinking economic resources within the family or using marriage as a safety net, i.e., to "protect" their daughters from sexual violence and abduction.73 Marriages are also seen as a way to avoid conscription of girls into the military such as in Sri Lanka, where parents feared forced recruitment of girls by the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE) in the North and East of the country, and believed that the armed group would not recruit married girls.74 There is also evidence of Rohingya girls being forced by smugglers, during their boat transportation to seek refuge in other countries, to marry older men willing to pay off their debts.74 In Cambodia, under the Khmer Rouge regime women endured forced labour and forced marriages along with brutal beatings and rape including gang rape.



Reports of young Rohingya girls and women being raped during their boat journeys to Malaysia and Thailand, as well as in makeshift camps on the Malaysia-Thai border, further exemplify their vulnerability at all stages of conflict. In some cases, the level of violence they may experience is determined by caste, class, ability, mobility, civil status, sexual and gender identity, religion, nationality, ethnicity, and location. Forced Pregnancies and Involuntary Contraceptive Implants: Women's bodies are seen as modes of increasing the number and perpetuation of the population of certain groups. In many cases, this is backed by religious ideologues or community leaders, who reinforce women's roles in childbearing.76 Women, therefore, are entrapped by this stereotype and are forced into frequent childbirths. In Myanmar where ethnic communities are facing conflict, young people and women are discouraged from using contraception. Instead, having children is promoted.77 During the civil war in Sri Lanka, the LTTE had forced women against using contraception and to give birth, with very little spacing, to increase the Tamil population.⁷⁸ Such politicisation of SRHR by both state and non-state actors risk the lives and the health of women and girls. States also use the population control measure to perpetrate ethnic cleansing of minorities even in post-conflict situations. In post-conflict Sri Lanka, Tamil women in the Kilinochchi district had to undergo coercive population control through sterilisation that put their lives at risk.79

LACK OF SERVICE PROVISIONS FOR SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH

Disintegration of health infrastructure continues to be common in most conflict settings leading to a lack of health services, especially for women and girls.

High Maternal Mortality: Violence perpetrated against women and girls has dire consequences and can lead to a significant number of deaths including maternal deaths. According to the United Nations Security Council (UNSC) Report of the Secretary General on Women, Peace and Security, the maternal mortality rate is 60% higher in conflict and in post-conflict countries than the global Maternal Mortality Rate (MMR) of 210 deaths per 100,000 live births.⁸⁰ About 60% of these maternal deaths involve women struggling to survive conflicts, natural disasters and displacement.⁸¹ In Syria, the MMR has increased alarmingly from 49 to 68 per 100,000 live births since the start of the conflict in 2011.⁸² The rise in MMR is also triggered by unmet need of contraception, increased sexual violence and a lack of SRH services.

Limited or No Access to SRH Services and Information:

Due to the lack of basic amenities like water and sanitation in humanitarian crises, women and girls face health repercussions, particularly reproductive and urinary tract infections. This is further made worse by the absence of Pregnancy related deaths and disabilities are high due to the lack of services, such as obstetric, prenatal, and postnatal care in conflict areas. Furthermore, contraceptive information and services, including emergency contraception, post-exposure prophylaxis, safe abortion, and post-abortion care, as well as comprehensive emergency obstetric care may not be accessible or universally available.

sanitary supplies and private toilet facilitates.⁸³ Because of the gendered expectations that involve shame in even talking about sexual and reproductive health, most of the SRH issues go unnoticed causing severe and chronic health problems. Additionally, with the disintegration of health systems, access to SRH services becomes even more challenging. In places with escalating conflict, healthcare workers may be forced to abandon their service sites.⁸⁴ Hence, there is a huge gap in delivery of these services in a comprehensive and systematic manner.

Pregnancy related deaths and disabilities are high due to the lack of services, such as obstetric, prenatal, and postnatal care in conflict areas. Furthermore, contraceptive information and services, including emergency contraception, postexposure prophylaxis, safe abortion, and post-abortion care, as well as comprehensive emergency obstetric care may not be accessible or universally available. This situation becomes aggravated for survivors of rape and sexual violence in environments that are restrictive and instigate fear of further violence and stigmatisation that make costs prohibitive; and that do not have information available in a language that the survivors understand.⁸⁵ In places where services are available, women face accessibility issues such as transport and fear of sexual violence during travel, thereby limiting women's mobility to SRH services. For internally displaced women and those seeking refuge in other countries, language is a key barrier to accessing SRH services and expressing their specific SRH needs.

As contraception does not get prioritised in an emergency situation, women and girls endure unwanted pregnancies and widespread Sexually Transmitted Infections (STI). Unsafe abortion rates too are higher causing threats to the lives of women.⁸⁶ During the civil war in Sri Lanka and the state

embargo on Jaffna (the site of the conflict), restriction on contraceptives, drugs, and sanitary products for women led to frequent pregnancies, which had consequences on women's physical and psychosocial health.⁸⁷

Providing services for HIV prevention and treatment is also extremely challenging due to limited diagnostic services, lack of privacy, high level of stigma, and lack of access to antiretroviral.⁸⁸ SRH information and education are also non-existent in humanitarian situations and in the IDP camp curriculum. Such situations, combined with not just limited supplies but also stigma towards contraception, make women and girls more vulnerable to violation of their SRH.⁸⁹

There are several initiatives in place to address SRH needs in crises situations. For example, there is the work of the Inter-Agency Working Group⁹⁰ on Reproductive Health in Crises and its Field Manual on Reproductive Health in Refugee Situations. The Minimum Initial Service Package⁹¹ (MISP) is designed to prevent and manage consequences of sexual violence, prevent excess maternal and new-born morbidity and mortality, reduce HIV transmission and plan for comprehensive reproductive health (RH) services beginning from the early days and weeks of an emergency. The Sphere Project⁹² has introduced "essential health services--sexual and reproductive health standard" at the onset of an emergency and comprehensive RH as the situation stabilises.93 Similarly, "Dignity Kits" introduced by the United Nations Population Fund includes basic hygiene items like sanitary pads and panties for women to support their mobility during humanitarian settings.

However, implementation of these initiatives is not seen across all crises situations. The services should include but not be limited to comprehensive sexuality education, access to contraceptive choices and services, protection from gender-based and sexual violence, access to safe abortion and maternal health services and accessible and affordable legal and judicial services in case of violation of SRHR.

UNFAVOURABLE AND INACCESSIBLE LAWS, POLICIES AND JUDICIAL SYSTEMS

The breakdown of law and order during crises increases the vulnerability of women and girls to sexual violence, leading to more risks of unwanted pregnancy, unsafe abortions, and STIs, including HIV. Countries also impose strict laws and policies on certain groups to control their mobility and their sexual

and reproductive functions. Given the complete lack of law enforcement and legal systems in these areas, violence against women and girls is unreported and unaddressed and has a long-term impact on their health and wellbeing.

Systemic Violation of SRHR Through Regressive and Restrictive Laws and Policies: When conflicts arise due to strong religious, cultural and ethnic conservatism, reproductive rights of women from minority groups and marginalised communities are systematically violated through disparate applications of laws and policies. The Population Control Healthcare Bill⁹⁴ in Buddhist majority Myanmar seeks to control and restrict Muslim Rohingya women's choices in the number of children they want to have. In 2013, Myanmar also reaffirmed the discriminatory "Two-Child Policy" of 1994 on Rohingya families of the Rakhine State,⁹⁵ which rights groups said was consistent with the wider persecution of the largely stateless Rohingya, violating international human rights protections, and endangering women's physical and mental health.⁹⁶

When conflicts arise due to strong religious, cultural and ethnic conservatism, reproductive rights of women from minority groups and marginalised communities are systematically violated through disparate applications of laws and policies.

The policy criminalises having more than two children, leading to an increase in women, pregnant with their third child, seeking unsafe abortions.⁹⁷ These were in addition to the 2005 Population Control measures that enforced the use of contraceptives by Rohingya families.⁹⁸ In 2011, an estimated 14.3% of Rohingya women had undergone at least one abortion and 26% of the women had multiple abortions due to restrictive laws.⁹⁹ In the aftermath of the conflict in Poso¹⁰⁰ in Indonesia, SRHR needs such as abortion, access to treatment to HIV and other STIs for displaced women were completely denied,¹⁰¹ owing to narrow interpretations of SRH services that were only confined to family planning and maternal services. Similarly, in post-conflict Sri Lanka, Tamil woman were forcefully given contraceptive implants to control the population of the Tamil minorities. Research by Fortify Rights found that random checks by law enforcements agents, encouraged by the state for record keeping of individual household members, are used as an excuse by security forces to commit sexual violence against Rohingya women and girls, including incidents of gang rapes and forced breastfeeding of babies in front of uniformed police and army soldiers.

Inaccessibility of Legal Recourse: Many women and girls do not report sexual violence because of a lack of legal services and when they are indeed available, there are no measures in place to provide safety and confidentiality of the victims.¹⁰² For IDPs and refugee women, barriers also come in the form of a foreign language that they are not necessarily well versed in. In many cases, there is a lack of institutional policies to support the prosecution of charges against perpetuators of sexual and gender-based violence in conflicts.¹⁰³ Constitutional guarantees allow blanket amnesty for military personnel and leaders, absolving them from any accountability for war crimes including sexual violence against women.¹⁰⁴ Attitudes encouraging victim blaming and the culture of impunity for military still exists in many states.

For instance, sexual violence perpetrated by the Khmer Rouge cadre in Cambodia went without trial.¹⁰⁵ Reporting such crimes or seeking justice is even lesser among women combatants as they are perceived to have transgressed traditional and accepted gender and societal norms.¹⁰⁶ In countries like Bangladesh where women have testified before tribunals set up for war crimes, they have faced backlash and reprisals in their homes and communities.¹⁰⁷ When the rape of ethnic minority women by the military was reported in Myanmar, the cases are heard by military tribunals, without transparent processes¹⁰⁸ and they often acquit the perpetrators.

SYSTEMIC INEQUALITIES

During conflicts, systemic inequalities can negatively impact women and girls' access to services. This is particularly true for women and girls dependent on their male counterparts for their citizenship, as they have the least or no access to protection that comes from being citizens. This includes access to health care, legal services, employment and other socioeconomic and cultural rights. They also bear the repercussions of weak regulatory systems and frameworks that allow nonstate actors to violate human rights.

Statelessness, Threats to Nationality, and Systemic

Violence: Statelessness can be both the cause and consequences of a conflict. It can be the result of intersections between conflict and discrimination against women in nationality rights, such as laws that require women to change their nationality after marriage, denying them the right to pass on their nationality to their children.¹⁰⁹ When people are forced to flee their homes during conflicts, there are high chances of them losing identity documents to prove their nationality. As their status is dependent on their male counterparts, it is not considered important for them to hold citizenships in their own names, which denies them individual identity, citizenship, and access to many services including, health and SRH even during conflict and humanitarian crises.

Rohingya Muslim women in Myanmar have experienced a wide range of sexual and gender-based violence¹¹⁰ with no access to complaint, redress or justice mechanisms. They are also subjected to severe monitoring and control, and restrictions on their freedom of movement, marriage, and family planning.¹¹¹ Research by Fortify Rights found that random checks by law enforcements agents, encouraged by the state for record keeping of individual household members, are used as an excuse by security forces to commit sexual violence against Rohingya women and girls, including incidents of gang rapes and forced breastfeeding of babies in front of uniformed police and army soldiers.¹¹²

The state also interferes in marriages involving Rohingyas, where Muslim couples have to obtain official approval by paying a large amount of fees and it can take up to two years to secure the approval.¹¹³ According to section 188 of the penal code, Rohingya women having children out of wedlock are subject to imprisonment for up to 10 years or fines or both, forcing women to seek unsafe abortions.¹¹⁴

Meanwhile, there are tens of thousands of women from Myanmar living as undocumented migrants in Thailand, who have limited access to health services due to their statelessness and are exploited in informal sectors.¹¹⁵ As statelessness excludes them from political processes, their experiences are not reflected in the peace processes. Statelessness, therefore, creates a vicious cycle of violence that needs to be addressed before sustainable peace can be achieved.

For some women and girls who assume nontraditional leadership roles, conflict can be a transformative process such as being the head of the household, making decisions and taking care of the financial needs to feed the family, as well as being commanders of troops and breaking gender stereotypes.

Human Rights Violations by Transnational Corporations

Perpetuate Conflict: Weak regulatory systems and frameworks caused by conflicts allow different types of non-state actors such as transnational corporations, especially in extractive industries, to make substantial investments.¹¹⁶ Multinational corporations are engaged to develop countries through extractive industries at the expense of the local people.¹¹⁷ The Global Report on the implementation of the United Nations Security Council Resolution (UNSCR) 1325 has highlighted that private security forces attached to these industries perpetrate violence against women including sexual violence, which then go unreported due to dismantled judicial and legal systems. The report further mentions that they displace populations, have their own systems of intrusive security, encourage rampant corruption, and have enormous influence on the government at all levels, causing many women to be displaced with little or no compensation.

Increased Military-centric Approach is a Threat to the Democratic Rights of People, Including their SRHR: We have witnessed a surge in the use of military force in countries in the region with protracted conflicts. Global military expenditure in 2014 was 1.7 trillion, which is 13 times higher than the amount allocated for development aid.¹¹⁸ Militarisation is a threat to the democratic rights of people and it perpetuates a cycle of violence. The presence of military increases the risk of violence against women and threatens their bodily security. States have also used the military to take away wealth and resources from communities' control, especially from indigenous and local people.¹¹⁹ In inter-governmental debate and discussion spaces, where women remain largely under represented, negotiations are solely focused on military and high-level processes and often result in further empowering "men with guns."¹²⁰ As a result, export and trade in arms has increased significantly in the region and there has been a huge proliferation of arms including small arms, which has contributed substantially to heightened levels of violence in communities, especially against women.¹²¹

All these illustrate the lack of seriousness paid to issues related to women and girls in the peace processes. Equal and meaningful participation of women in all levels of peace processes is key to sustainable peace and development.

Conflict as a Transformative Process for Women: For some women and girls who assume non-traditional leadership roles, conflict can be a transformative process such as being the head of the household, making decisions and taking care of the financial needs to feed the family, as well as being commanders of troops and breaking gender stereotypes. A study carried out by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) in Colombia, Indonesia, the Philippines and Sri Lanka concluded that while conflict can cause suffering, they also presented opportunities for women to take up leadership roles in the wake of disruption of traditional local structures, livelihoods and gender norms and they continued to play more active economic roles as they struggled to recover and rebuild.¹²² With these roles, they experience gains and opportunities to weaken patriarchy, which is crucial for lasting peace. Women have also organised themselves to ensure that facilities in the times of crises are accessible to them. In Sri Lanka, during the time of conflict, displaced Muslim women fought for latrines to be built in spaces of their convenience, which would have otherwise had them make the long and dangerous walk in the dark.

However, such experiences are often silenced and left out during the transition from conflict to peace, thereby losing the gains made because traditional structures and systems come into play again.

Exclusion of Women and Girls from Conflict Resolution and Peacebuilding Processes: Despite international human rights instruments recognising the importance of women's participation at decision making levels, women and their experiences continue to be made invisible, and their voices silenced and marginalised, in conflict prevention, resolution and peace negotiation processes. Peace is feminised and women's roles in the peace processes are seen within an essentialist realm—to bring a "social order" by pushing women to maintain their role as caregivers,¹²³ despite the fact that women often take leadership roles as heads of households, political leaders, and combatants during the time of conflict.¹²⁴

Women were significantly affected not just as victims but also as human rights defenders, fighters, and leaders as was the case during the 10-year insurgency in Nepal. Despite their active role in the conflict, the Nepalese government officials, political party leaders, and Maoists rebel leaders failed to ensure women's participation in formal talks and negotiations.¹²⁵ Similarly in Myanmar, women's voices are hampered by the way peace processes are designed and the focus continues to be on neutralising perpetrators of violence rather than investing in resources for peace.¹²⁶ In Indonesia, ten years after the memorandum of understanding between the Government of Indonesia and the Free Aceh Movement, GAM, gender-based violence continues to be normalised in post-conflict Aceh, with regular attacks on gender and sexual minorities, female human rights defenders, women and gender studies lecturers.¹²⁷ As a result, gender hierarchy continues in the post-conflict phase. Women's absence at the negotiation tables and during peace talks prevents sustainable peace from being a reality.

Peace is feminised and women's roles in the peace processes are seen within an essentialist realm—to bring a "social order" by pushing women to maintain their role as caregivers, despite the fact that women often take leadership roles as heads of households, political leaders, and combatants during the time of conflict.

EXISTING INTERNATIONAL INSTRUMENTS

.

There are several international instruments that guarantee the rights of women and girls during conflict and peacebuilding processes. It is crucial for advocates of SRHR to be aware of these instruments, examine their efficacy and implementation and ensure that the relevant instruments are part of the advocacy. This section lists and provides details of some of the most relevant instruments. This, however, is not an exhaustive list. Discussed in this are select international instruments that have relatively strong linkages between conflict, gender, and SRHR.

Adoption of UNSCR 1325 and Subsequent Resolutions: In

2000, the UN Security Council unanimously adopted resolution 1325 on Women, Peace and Security (WPS). This was a landmark resolution passed following the wars in Bosnia and Rwanda that saw unprecedented violence against women during a conflict. The resolution is by far the most powerful tool and was a result of tireless efforts by a global constituency of women's organisations and advocates.¹²⁸ It recognises women's agency in building peace. The resolution entails four pillars:

- Participation: It calls for increased participation of women at all levels of decision-making; in mechanisms for the prevention, management and resolution of conflict; in peace negotiations; in peace operations as soldiers, police, and civilians; and as Special Representatives of the UN Secretary-General.
- Protection: It calls specifically for the protection of women and girls from sexual and gender-based violence, including in emergency and humanitarian situations, such as in refugee camps.
- Prevention: It calls for improving intervention strategies by prosecuting those responsible for violations of international law; strengthening women's rights under national law; and supporting local women's peace initiatives and conflict resolution processes.
- Relief and Recovery: It calls for advancement of relief and recovery measures to address international crises through a gendered lens, including by respecting the civilian and humanitarian nature of refugee camps, and taking into account the particular needs of women and girls in the design of refugee camps and settlements.

Subsequently, 1820 was adopted in June 2008 reinforcing resolution 1325 and highlighting that sexual violence in conflict constitutes a war crime and demands parties to armed conflict to immediately take appropriate measures to protect civilians from sexual violence, including training troops and enforcing disciplinary measures. Addressing the same topic, resolutions 1888 (2009), 1889 (2009), 1960 (2010), 2106 (2013), 2122 (2013) and 2242 (2015) were adopted.¹²⁹

Regional documents, such as the outcome document of the Asia Pacific Population Conference (APPC),¹³⁰ also recognise the importance of the implementation of UNSCR 1325 and subsequent resolutions and commits to develop peace by engaging women in peace negotiations among others.

National Action Plans (NAPs), as mandated by UNSCR 1325, are one of the ways to implement the WPS commitments at the country level and to advance accountability.¹³¹ As of 2016, only 60 member states-eight from Asia¹³²-have adopted the NAPs.¹³³ But, according to the UN Secretary General's report, only 11 NAPs have budgets for implementation.¹³⁴ The report also goes on to admit that the UN falls short of its set target to allocate a minimum of 15% of peacebuilding funds to projects whose principal objective is to address women's specific needs and to advance gender equality. In addition, the global report on the implementation of 1325 has highlighted that the NAPs have had limited impact on improving real opportunities and outcomes on women's lives on the ground. Besides, the majority of countries with on going or protracted conflicts have not shown any political will to develop NAPs or implement UNSCR 1325.135

Adoption of UNSCR 2250 on Youth, Peace, and Security: The unanimous adoption of UNSCR 2250 in December 2015 identified five key pillars for action: participation, protection, prevention, partnerships and disengagement, and reintegration. This is a landmark resolution that recognised the agency of young people in conflict resolution and peacebuilding processes, calling for their participation during the negotiation and implementation of peace agreements. It urged member states to give the youth a greater voice in decision-making at the local, national, regional and international levels and to consider setting up mechanisms that would enable young people to participate meaningfully in the peace processes. As a next step, the resolution requested the Secretary General to carry out a progress study on the youth's positive contribution to peace processes and conflict resolution to recommend effective responses at all levels. It further requested the Secretary General to make the results of this study available to the Security Council and all UN member states.

On SRHR, for the first time, the committee strongly and explicitly called on states to provide safe abortion services including postabortion care as a part of their obligation to provide SRH services.

Establishment of the Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Sexual Violence in Conflict (SRSG-**SVC):** Following the adoption of the Security Council resolution 1888 on WPS, the office of the special representative of the Secretary General was established and became operational in April 2010. The SRSG-SVC serves as the UN's spokesperson and leading advocate on conflict-related sexual violence. It is responsible for mobilising global political will and action and for preparing the annual report of the Secretary General covering all relevant situations of concern and naming and shaming perpetrators. The SRSG works with the Security Council to propose sanctions and other measures against those who commit, command or condone crimes related to sexual violence. It also works with state and non-state parties of conflict to obtain specific commitments to prevent and respond to sexual violence. The UN Team of Experts on the Rule of Law/ Sexual Violence in Conflict was also established pursuant to resolution 1888 to support countries to strengthen prevention and response efforts.136

Adoption of CEDAW General Recommendation 30: In 2013, the CEDAW committee adopted the landmark GR 30 on Women in Conflict Prevention, Conflict and Post-Conflict Situations. This is the only legally binding document that recognises women's participation in conflict resolution and peacebuilding processes. It provides authoritative guidance to state parties on legislative, policy and other appropriate measures to ensure full compliance with their obligations under the convention to protect, respect and fulfil women's human rights¹³⁷ and provides guidance for non-state actors to address women's rights in conflict-affected areas.

The committee highlights the persisting concern of gendered impact of conflict and exclusion of women from conflict prevention and peacebuilding efforts as well as the insufficient information on the application of the CEDAW convention in such situations.¹³⁸ Protecting women's human rights at all times, advancing substantive gender equality before, during, and after conflict, and ensuring that women's diverse experiences are fully integrated into all peacebuilding, peacemaking, and reconstruction processes are important objectives of the convention.

On SRHR, for the first time, the committee strongly and explicitly called on states to provide safe abortion services including post-abortion care as a part of their obligation to provide SRH services. The committee reiterated that forced pregnancies, abortion, and sterilisation of women in conflictaffected areas violated a myriad of women's rights, including the right to decide freely and responsibly on the number and spacing of their children. The committee further recommended that the states parties prevent, investigate and punish genderbased violations such as forced marriages, forced pregnancies, abortions or sterilisation of women and girls in conflictaffected areas.

Other key recommendations were access to SRHR information, psychosocial support, family planning services (including emergency contraception), maternal health services (including antenatal care), skilled delivery services, prevention of vertically-transmitted infections and emergency obstetric care, prevention and treatment of HIV/AIDS and other sexually transmitted infections (including post-exposure prophylaxis), and care to treat injuries, such as fistula arising from sexual violence, complications of delivery, or other reproductive health complications, among others.

In terms of reporting, the committee asks the state parties to report on the legal framework, policies and programmes that they have implemented to ensure the human rights of women in conflict prevention, conflict, and post-conflict. States parties should collect, analyse, and make available sex-disaggregated statistics, in addition to trends over time, concerning WPS.

Adoption of Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development: Goal 16 of the SDGs recognises that sustainable development can only be realised when our societies and countries are in peace and are secure. The agenda focuses on promotion of peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, providing access to justice for all and on building effective, accountable, and inclusive institutions at all levels. The 2030 Agenda outlines follow-up and review processes that will be voluntary and country-led, while being open, inclusive, participatory, and transparent for all people and stakeholders.

One of the indicators identified for the achievement of the goal is the development of effective, accountable, and transparent institutions at all levels. Though the 2030 Agenda recognises the importance of women's presence in peacebuilding and state-building, the indicators do not include gendered impacts of conflicts and the need to bring perpetrators of genderbased violence to justice. It also fails to recognise the need for punitive action against perpetrators and their advantages and disadvantages to conflict-affected women. It further ignores the growing militaristic nature of conflicts and the violence it perpetrates and none of the targets indicate any form of commitment to end military occupation or the use of military forces.¹³⁹

Beijing Platform for Action (BPfA): Women and armed conflict were one of the 12 critical areas of concern flagged by and adopted by the BPfA in 1995 to ensure urgent action was taken, and to lay out concrete ways for countries to bring about change. It emphasised that states should ensure greater quality and opportunities for women and men, girls and boys.¹⁴⁰ The progress and gaps of implementing the landmark BPfA are reviewed annually by the Commission on the Status of Women (CSW). The BPfA recognises the importance of participation of women in conflict resolution at decision making levels; protecting women living in situations of armed and other conflicts or under foreign occupation: reducing excessive military expenditure and controlling the availability of armaments; promoting non-violent forms of conflict resolution and reducing the incidence of human rights abuse in conflict situations; promoting women's contribution to fostering a culture of peace; providing protection, assistance, and training to refugee women, other displaced women in need of international protection, and internally displaced women; and providing assistance to the women of the colonies and non-self-governing territories.

The BPfA encourages both women and men to take responsibility for their sexual and reproductive behaviour, ensures full respect for the integrity of the person, takes action to ensure the necessary conditions for women to exercise their reproductive rights, and to eliminate coercive laws and practices. It further recognises the specific needs of adolescents and implements appropriate programmes such as education and information on sexual and reproductive health issues, and on sexually transmitted diseases including HIV/ AIDS. In 2015, the report of the Secretary General on the 20-year review of the implementation of the BPfA highlighted that conflict-related sexual and gender-based violence continued to remain a serious concern, and women remained underrepresented in the security sector, decision-making, and leadership positions.¹⁴¹

The ICPD PoA recognises the impact of conflict on women and girls —that they may be subjected to rape and sexual assault in situations of armed conflict. The PoA is also committed to providing refugees with access to health services including family planning.

International Conference on Population and Development Programme of Action (PoA): Despite being non-binding, the ICPD PoA is a landmark document that put SRHR at the centre of development. The ICPD PoA recognises the impact of conflict on women and girls—that they may be subjected to rape and sexual assault in situations of armed conflict. The PoA is also committed to providing refugees with access to health services including family planning.¹⁴² Member states that adopted the ICPD acknowledged the need for involvement of women in the leadership, planning, decision-making, management, implementation, organisation and evaluation of services in reproductive health programming.¹⁴³

Geneva Conventions: The Geneva Conventions and their additional protocols that regulate the conduct of armed conflicts are at the core of International Humanitarian Law. Arising from the experiences of World War II, the fourth Geneva Convention adopted in 1949 and its additional protocols seek to protect people who do not take part in the fighting and those who can no longer fight. Among approximately 560 articles in the Geneva Conventions of 1949 and the Additional Protocols of 1977, about 40 are of specific concern to women.¹⁴⁴ Some of them include, under protection of women as members of the civilian population; protection against abuses by the Party to the conflict into whose power women have fallen; protection of women as members of the civilian population, including pregnant women or maternity cases, nursing mothers and mothers of young children; and treatment of women combatants and prisoners of war.

In addition, Article 27 of the Fourth Convention provides special protection for women against any attacks on their honour, and in particular against rape, enforced prostitution, or any form of indecent assault. The content of this article, repeated in different protocols of the conventions, further substantiates that violence against women, specifically in the context of conflict, continue to be committed¹⁴⁵ and needs to be addressed by all parties. According to the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), "women are in the greatest danger of such assaults at the time of their arrest or capture and during the interrogation, which follows, assaults ranging from the threat of rape to obtain "confessions" to the act itself."¹⁴⁶ However, adoptions of the conventions are not sufficient to address the issue unless state parties take responsibilities for their implementation.

Council of Europe Convention on Preventing and Combating Violence Against Women and Domestic Violence (Istanbul Convention): The Istanbul Convention is a Council of Europe Convention, which guarantees the fundamental right of every woman to be protected from gender-based violence at the individual, institutional, and structural level, regardless of her legal status. It was adopted by the Council of Europe's Committee of Ministers in April 2011, and Turkey became its first signatory in May 2011 on the occasion of the 121st Session of the Committee of Ministers in Istanbul.

The convention is seen as a crucial legal instrument that demands that states grant legal recognition to stateless persons. The convention further ensures that victims of gender-based violence across different countries will have access to the same rights, protections, and resources when dealing with various forms of physical and psychological abuse. It recognises and addresses the structural and systemic problem of gender-based violence that disproportionately targets women.¹⁴⁸ Article 60 of the convention addresses issues related to gender-based asylum claims and provides the following:

 Parties shall take the necessary legislative or other measures to ensure that gender-based violence against women may be recognised as a form of persecution within the meaning of Article 1, A(2), of the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and as a form of serious harm, giving rise to complementary/subsidiary protection.

- Parties shall ensure that a gender-sensitive interpretation is given to each of the convention grounds, and that where it is established that the persecution feared is for one or more of these grounds, applicants shall be granted refugee status according to the applicable relevant instruments.
- CONCLUSIONS

.

Despite existing international instruments and commitments, gender inequality is a major issue and women and girls generally continue to face violations of their SRHR, especially during conflict and post-conflict. Though conflicts can also play transformative roles for women, providing opportunities to break gender stereotypes, they are expected to resume gender roles post-conflict under the pretext of "restoring peace." Experiences of women's transformation to leadership roles should be consolidated and their gains sustained, so that women are not pushed back to their subservient roles to reassert patriarchal ideology when the war has, so called, "ended."¹⁴⁹

Because women are excluded from conflict resolution and peace processes, their experiences of conflict, especially relating to their SRHR, are often invisible and hence, remain unaddressed. It is important to acknowledge that the experiences of women and girls in conflict are different to 3. Parties shall take the necessary legislative or other measures to develop gender-sensitive reception procedures and support services for asylum-seekers as well as gender guidelines and gender-sensitive asylum procedures, including refugee status determination and application for international protection.

that of men and boys, and it is critical to ensure that conflict resolution and peace processes reflect the needs of women and girls as well.

Sustainable peace cannot be achieved unless structural inequalities and human rights violations including SRHR are addressed. Achieving gender equality and upholding SRHR, through human rights approaches, should be the priority of development plans and programmes at all levels. Gender quality and SRHR for all are crucial to prevent conflict in many of these contexts. The feminist definition of peace and the broadened definition of conflict, provided by the CEDAW committee in GR 30, should be recognised by UN member states. This is important to address sub-national armed conflicts and other conflicts in formal peace negotiations or efforts to end violence and at the same time, address their deep-rooted origins as a part of peace initiatives.¹⁵⁰

Experiences of women's transformation to leadership roles should be consolidated and their gains sustained so that women are not pushed back to their subservient roles to reassert patriarchal ideology when the war has, so called, "ended."

MOVING FORWARD

.

Political will to address issues related to gender and SRHR is the starting point for sustainable peace. Every section of the society plays a pivotal role in contributing to peace. This section identifies some major actions that different actors are responsible for, to ensure gender equality and SRHR for women and girls, especially in conflict and humanitarian settings.

POLICY AND DECISION MAKERS (GOVERNMENT/DONORS/ UN AGENCIES)

- Ensure women's participation in conflict resolution and peace processes: Policy/decision makers should recognise the agency of women and girls. Their participation is crucial in all phases of conflict resolution and peace processes. Women's equal and meaningful participation at all decision-making levels, including at national institutions and mechanisms such as justice institutions, and at transitional justice mechanisms, should be ensured.¹⁵¹ That women are not a homogenous group, and their experiences of conflict can be diverse, should also be reflected in all decision-making processes. Strengthening women's capacity and enabling them to make effective interventions at these processes is essential.
- Implementation and effective monitoring of international instruments including UNSCR on Women, Peace and Security: Member states should ensure the implementation of international instruments with proper plans and adequate budget allocation both at the national, regional and international levels. The most demanding is the implementation of the UNSCR 1325 and subsequent resolutions on WPS, and UNSCR 2250 on Youth, Peace and Security. At the national level, the first step towards the implementation of WPS is to ensure that NAPs are in place. The NAPs should be supported with adequate resource allocation with effective implementation plans and monitoring mechanisms. The SDGs must also fully integrate commitments made to accelerate BPfA, ICPD PoA, UNSCR on WPS, and CEDAW GR 30 across all 17 goals¹⁵² and their review. All the components in the recommendations including safe abortion should be upheld by states irrespective of religious beliefs and cultural practices.

Only 3% of peace and security funding targets gender equality and women's empowerment, as a principal objective. This is likely due to the continued failure to adequately fund programmes for empowerment of women during non-conflict years or before the start of a conflict.

- Ensure justice to all, including stateless persons, who have suffered war crimes: States should take responsibility to provide justice to all those who have endured war crimes, including forced sexual slavery and rape. No post-conflict or peacebuilding effort can be successful until this is achieved. Countries should ensure that measures are taken, and systems are put in place, for victims of rape and other gender-based violence to testify and seek justice for the crime perpetrated against them. States should end the culture of impunity for perpetrators irrespective of their position and power. States are also obligated to put measures in place to protect human rights including SRHR of stateless women within their territory without any discrimination. This also includes guaranteeing women and girls affected by conflict the equal right to obtain the documents necessary for the exercise of their legal rights, and the right to have such documentation issued in their own names.153
- Ensure adequate funding for SRHR in conflict prevention, resolution, and peace processes: Currently funding for gender equality in peace and security is under prioritised. Only 3% of peace and security funding targets gender equality and women's empowerment, as a principal objective.¹⁵⁴ This is likely due to the continued failure to adequately fund programmes for empowerment of women during non-conflict years or before the start of a conflict. Root causes such as gender inequality and violation of SRHR must be addressed through adequate funding to organisations and movements in the region. Components of SRHR are supported more from a health perspective and in the context of humanitarian need. Adequate funding, for comprehensive SRHR approaches, during conflict helps minimise the impact, especially for women and girls.

• Ensure humanitarian aid and services adopt human rights approaches and that they reach all during crises: Even though current approaches of humanitarian efforts attempt to fulfil the need of people in crises, it tends to be disempowering and paternalistic, treating people like passive victims.¹⁵⁵ Humanitarian efforts should adopt a rights-based approach and reach out to people to assess their needs and offer options. This, in the long run, will contribute to sustainable peace. UN agencies such as UNHCR and other organisations providing humanitarian aid should ensure that initiatives, such as MISP and the Sphere Project, are expanded to be more comprehensive and are made universal to reach all women and girls in crises, and not just the identified priority areas by aid organisations.

A feminist approach draws attention to the efforts and resilience of women and girls to survive, negotiate, and rebuild, and builds on these experiences and examples for mainstream efforts to conflict resolution and peacebuilding.

CIVIL SOCIETY ORGANISATIONS AND GOVERNMENTS

- Gender disaggregated data and SRHR needs: Both states and CSOs, especially working in the humanitarian context, should ensure that data is gender disaggregated both during collection and analysis of the conflict situation. Studies should also analyse SRHR needs of those who are impacted by the conflict. Gender-disaggregated data should also recognise the existence of people with diverse sexual orientation, gender identities and expressions and their experiences of conflict, which can be different than those who identify as men and women. Diverse experiences of women in conflict should also be part of the studies. Similarly, there is also a need to study women's involvement in peace processes and their impact, as these studies provide the evidence-base for conflict resolution and peacebuilding efforts.
- Advocate and uphold SRHR for all: Upholding SRHR of all is key for conflict prevention, resolution, and peacebuilding. This requires a comprehensive approach and from the perspective of health and rights. Barriers to SRHR in the context of conflict and post-conflict situations should be identified and addressed. The barriers are also posed by structural inequalities and narrow or misinterpretation of religious beliefs and cultural practices, particularly

in providing contraception and safe abortion services. Intersectionalities of SRHR with such issues, therefore, need to be further studied to address and uphold SRHR for all. As stipulated in the CEDAW GR 30, in addition to family planning services, access to SRHR information and safe abortion services should be provided. The provision of SRHR in the context of conflict should also reflect government commitments to all international legal instruments, as highlighted in the previous sections.

CIVIL SOCIETY ORGANISATIONS:

- **Multiple roles:** CSOs can play multiple roles in conflict prevention, resolution, and building peace depending on where they are located, level of their reach to conflict affected women and girls, and their area of work. They can provide support and services, conduct awareness programmes on SRH and SRHR, document rights violations and lived-in experiences of conflict affected women, men youth and children, contribute to Shadow Reports to the CEDAW Committee as well as regional and international SDG processes, highlight the SRHR situation of women and girls in conflict, and give recommendations.
- Domestication of progressive international and national norms and standards: Domesticating international and national human rights instruments pertaining to WPS is important, considering Asia is vulnerable to increasing conflicts and their impact. Engaging the community, specifically women and girls, in the process of localising and contextualising human rights instruments not only strengthens their capacity but also allows them to take ownership for achieving peace and security.
- Advocate for a feminist approach to peace including demilitarisation: A feminist approach to peace calls for non-violent means to resolve conflict. As highlighted in the global study on the implementation of the UNSCR, prevention of conflict and ensuring security through non-violent means should be emphasised by international systems, and more resources should be dedicated to this endeavour. Resources allocated for the military should also be rechannelled to social spending to addresses the basic needs and rights of people, which can prevent the emergence or escalation of conflict in many contexts. A feminist approach draws attention to the efforts and resilience of women and girls to survive, negotiate, and rebuild,¹⁵⁶ and builds on these experiences and examples for mainstream efforts to conflict resolution and peacebuilding.

ENDNOTES

.

- Conflict prevention recognises that to avoid the catastrophes associated with strife, particularly violent upheaval, change is usually necessary through new institutions, revitalised processes or by the sharing of power. Conflict prevention as an approach relies heavily on the accurate analysis of any latent or minor disputes in the hope of identifying appropriate strategies for resolution or intervention. See: Christopher E. Miller, A Glossary of Terms and Concepts in Peace and Conflict Studies (University for Peace, 2005), https://www.upeace.org/pdf/glossaryv2.pdf.
- 2. Policies, programmes, and associated efforts to restore stability and the effectiveness of social, political, and economic institutions and structures in the wake of a war or some other debilitating or catastrophic event. Peacebuilding generally aims to create and ensure the conditions for 'negative peace' – the mere absence of violent conflict engagement, and for 'positive peace' – a more comprehensive understanding related to the institutionalisation of justice and freedom. See: Christopher E. Miller, A Glossary of Terms and Concepts in Peace and Conflict Studies.
- 3. Radhika Coomaraswamy, Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace: A Global Study on the Implementation of United Nations Security Council resolution 1325 (United States: UN Women, 2015), http://www.peacewomen.org/sites/default/ files/UNW-GLOBAL-STUDY-1325-2015%20(1).pdf.
- International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), Protracted Conflict and Humanitarian Action: Some Recent ICRC Experiences (Geneva: ICRC, 2016), https://www.icrc.org/sites/default/files/ document/file_list/protracted_conflict_and_humanitarian_action_ icrc_report_lr_29.08.16.pdf.
- A "fragile state" is a state significantly susceptible to crisis in 5. one or more of its subsystems. It is a state that is particularly vulnerable to internal and external shocks and domestic and international conflicts. In a fragile state, institutional arrangements embody and perhaps preserve the conditions of crisis: in economic terms, this could be institutions (importantly, property rights) that reinforce stagnation or low growth rates, or embody extreme inequality (in wealth, in access to land, in access to the means to make a living); in social terms institutions may embody extreme inequality or lack of access altogether to health or education; in political terms, institutions may entrench exclusionary coalitions in power (in ethnic, religious, perhaps regional terms), or extreme factionalism or significantly fragmented security organisations. See: "Crisis, Fragile and Failed States," The London School of Economics and Political Science, accessed November 21, 2017, http://www.lse.ac.uk/ internationalDevelopment/research/crisisStates/download/drc/ FailedState.pdf.
- 6. Radhika Coomaraswamy, *Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace.*
- 7. Internally Displaced People (IDPs) have not crossed a border to find safety. Unlike refugees, they are on the run at home. While they may have fled for similar reasons, IDPs stay within their own country and remain under the protection of its government, even if that government is the reason for their displacement. As a result, these people are among the most vulnerable in the world. See: "Internally Displaced people," United Nations High Commissioner

for Refugees (UNHCR), accessed February 2018, http://www. unhcr.org/internally-displaced-people.html.

- 8. A person seeking asylum based on the likelihood of persecution or imminent harm in his or her home country due to race, religion, nationality, ethnicity, social membership, political opinion, or knowledge. See: Christopher E. Miller, *A Glossary of Terms and Concepts in Peace and Conflict Studies.*
- 9. Radhika Coomaraswamy, *Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace.*
- "Figures at a Glance," UNHCR, http://www.unhcr.org/en-my/ figures-at-a-glance.html.
- 11. "Figures at a Glance," UNHCR.
- 12. "Figures at a Glance," UNHCR.
- Rosalind P. Petchesky, "Conflict and Crisis Settings: Promoting Sexual and Reproductive Rights" *Reproductive Health Matters* (2008), http://www.gdnonline.org/resources/RHM31_Editorial_ Conflict_Crisis_Settings.pdf.
- 14. Rosalind P. Petchesky, "Conflict and Crisis Settings."
- 15. Rosalind P. Petchesky, "Conflict and Crisis Settings."
- 16. Kamala Chandrakirana, Implementing the Women, Peace and Security Agenda in Asia: Towards a Context-responsive Approach from the Bottom Up, A Scoping Study commissioned by Women's Leadership for Peace and Security Programme Cordaid, (2013), https://apwaps.files.wordpress.com/2014/08/scoping-study-wpsin-asia.pdf.
- Executive Committee of the High Commissioner's Programme, Overview of UNHCR's Operations in Asia and the Pacific, (Standing Committee 65th meeting 2016), http://www.unhcr. org/56cd75c29.pdf.
- The Asia Pacific Women's Alliance on Peace and Security (APWAPS) and Women in Governance, (WinG)-India, Spectrum of Perspectives: Review and Analysis of UNSCR 1325 in Asia-Pacific Region. http://www.peacewomen.org/system/files/global_study_ submissions/Online%20Dialogue%200n%20UNSCR.pdf.
- 19. Kamala Chandrakirana, *Implementing the Women, Peace and Security Agenda in Asia*.
- 20. Horizontal Inequality (HI) is defined as in equality among culturally defined (or constructed) groups, in contrast to Vertical Inequality (VI) which is inequality among households or individuals. HIs are multidimensional, including a political and social dimension, as well as economic, and a range of elements in each of these dimensions. See: Frances Stewart and Arnim Langer, *Horizontal Inequalities: Explaining Persistence and Change*. https://www.ifw-kiel.de/konfer/2006/preg/stewart_langer.pdf.
- 21. Kamala Chandrakirana, *Implementing the Women, Peace and Security Agenda in Asia*.
- Development Studies Network, Women, Gender and Development in The Pacific: Key Issues, Conflict and Peacemaking: Gender Perspectives. https://openresearch-repository.anu.edu.au/ bitstream/1885/113443/1/gen_civil.pdf.
- Benjamin Reilly, Internal Conflict and Regional Security in Asia and the Pacific (Australian National University Pacifica Review, Volume 14, No.1, February 2002), https://crawford.anu.edu.au/ pdf/staff/ben_reilly/internal_conflict.pdf.
- 24. Bonnie S. Glaser, *Conflict in the South China Sea*, Council on Foreign Relations (2015), https://cfrd8-files.cfr.org/sites/default/ files/pdf/2015/04/CPM_Update_South_China_Sea_.pdf.
- BBC News, "Why is the South China Sea contentious," accessed November 2017, http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asiapacific-13748349.

- 26. The New York Times, "Tribunal Rejects Beijing's Claim in South China Sea," https://www.nytimes.com/2016/07/13/world/asia/ south-china-sea-hague-ruling-philippines.html.
- BBC News, "Philippines Unrest: Who are the Abu Sayyaf Group?" http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-36138554.
- Peace Insight, "Myanmar Conflict Profile," https://www. peaceinsight.org/conflicts/myanmar/.
- 29. Robert Malley, *10 Conflicts to Watch in 2018*, International Crises Group (2018). https://www.crisisgroup.org/global/10-conflicts-watch-2018.
- 30. Robert Malley, 10 Conflicts to Watch in 2018.
- 31. Asian-Pacific Resource and Research of Women (ARROW), Strategic Plan (2017-2021) [Internal Document].
- 32. Sepali Kottegoda, "Ground Realities: Women's Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights in Conflict Situations," ARROW for Change, Vol. 13 No. 3 2007, http://arrow.org.my/wp-content/ uploads/2015/04/AFC-Vol.13-No.3-2007_Conflict.pdf.
- 33. Christopher E. Miller, A Glossary of Terms and Concepts in Peace and Conflict Studies.
- Nadine Puechguirbal, "The Cost of Ignoring Gender in Conflict and Post-Conflict Situations: A Feminist Perspective," Amsterdam Law Forum, Vol. 4, 2-12, 2012, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers. cfm?abstract___id=2007625.
- 35. Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), General Recommendation No. 30 on Women in Conflict Prevention, Conflict and Post-conflict Situations (GR 30), 18 October 2013, http://www.ohchr.org/ documents/hrbodies/cedaw/gcomments/cedaw.c.g.30.pdf.
- 36. CEDAW, GR 30.
- 37. Christopher E. Miller, A Glossary of Terms and Concepts in Peace and Conflict Studies.
- 38. Ceasefire is defined as an agreement to stop fighting a war for a period of time so that a permanent agreement can be made to end the war. See: https://www.merriam-webster.com/ dictionary/cease-fire.
- 39. Conflict management approaches tend to focus more on mitigating or controlling the destructive consequences that emanate from a given conflict than on finding solutions to the underlying issues causing it. See: Conflict management, settlement, resolution and transformation, http://www.netuni.nl/courses/conflict1/ week1/1.3_week.html.
- 40. The Asia Pacific Women's Alliance on Peace and Security (APWAPS) and Women in Governance, (WinG)-India, Spectrum of Perspectives: Review and Analysis of UNSCR 1325 in Asia-Pacific Region.
- 41. Conflict transformation are defined as processes and skills and more in terms of constructive social change, the "building of right relationships and social structures through a radical respect for human rights, and nonviolence as way of life." See: Catherine Morris, Definitions in the Field of Conflict Transformation. http:// www.peacemakers.ca/publications/ADRdefinitions.html.
- 42. Radhika Coomaraswamy, Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace.
- 43. Gunda Werner Institute, "Feminism and Gender Democracy, Feminist Perspectives on Peace and Security," http://www. gwi-boell.de/en/2010/07/30/feminist-perspectives-peace-andsecurity.
- 44. Gunda Werner Institute, "Feminism and Gender Democracy, Feminist Perspectives on Peace and Security."
- 45. Sepali Kottegoda, "Ground Realities."

- 46. WHO, "Reproductive Health," http://www.who.int/topics/ reproductive_health/en/, and Sivananthi Thanenthiran, Sai Jyothir Mai Racherla and Suloshini Jahanath, *Reclaiming and Redefining Rights: ICPD+20: Status of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights in Asia Pacific*, Kuala Lumpur: ARROW, 2013. http://arrow. org.my/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/ICPD-20-Asia-Pacific_ Monitoring-Report_2013.pdf.
- 47. WHO, "Reproductive Health," and Sivananthi Thanenthiran, et al, *Reclaiming and Redefining Rights.*
- 48. Sivananthi Thanenthiran, et al., Reclaiming and Redefining Rights.
- 49. WHO, "Defining Sexual Health," http://www.who.int/ reproductivehealth/topics/sexual_health/sh_definitions/en/, and Azra Abdul Cader, Ending Child Early and Forced Marriage-SRHR as Central to the Solution. Kuala Lumpur: ARROW, 2017.
- 50. WHO, "Defining Sexual Health," and Azra Abdul Cader, *Ending Child Early and Forced Marriage*.
- 51. Rosalinda P. Petchesky, "Conflict and Crisis Settings."
- 52. Etienne G. Krug, et al., eds., World Report on Violence and Health, WHO, 147-174, 2002, http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/42495/9241545615 eng.pdf?sequence=1.
- 53. Azad Essa, *Why Do Some Peacekeepers Rape? The Full Report*, Aljazeera, 10 Aug 2017. https://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/2017/08/peacekeepers-rape-full-report-170804134221292.html.
- 54. NY Daily News, "United Nations Peacekeepers Gave Haitian Women Food, Medicine in Exchange for Sex, Report Reveals," http://www.nydailynews.com/news/world/peacekeepers-gavehaitian-women-food-exchange-sex-article-1.2252746.
- 55. BBC News, "Oxfam Haiti Allegations: How the Scandal Unfolded," http://www.bbc.com/news/uk-43112200.
- 56. United Nations Secretary General, Report of the Secretary General on Conflict Related Sexual Violence, 2018.
- 57. Yu Kojima, "Rohingya Refugee and Migrant Women Shadowed by Sexual and Gender-based Violence," Our World (United Nations University, 2015), https://ourworld.unu.edu/en/rohingya-refugeeand-migrant-women-shadowed-by-sexual-and-gender-basedviolence.
- 58. Inter-Agency Support Group on Indigenous Peoples' Issues, Elimination and Responses to Violence, Exploitation and Abuse of Indigenous Girls, Adolescents and Young Women, Thematic Paper towards the preparation of the 2014 World Conference on Indigenous Peoples. http://www.un.org/en/ga/president/68/pdf/ wcip/IASG%20Thematic%20Paper_%20Violence%20against%20 Girls%20and%20Women%20-%20rev1.pdf.
- 59. Rosalinda P. Petchesky, "Conflict and Crisis Settings."
- 60. The Guardian, "Rodrigo Duterte jokes to soldiers that they can rape women with impunity," https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2017/may/27/rodrigo-duterte-jokes-to-soldiers-that-theycan-women-with-impunity.
- 61. Absolute Crime, "Comfort Women: A History of Japanese Forced Prostitution During the Second World War," http://www. absolutecrime.com/comfort-women-a-history-of-japanese-forcedprostitution-during-the-second-world-war.html#.WtBZvi5ubIV.
- 62. Cambodian Defenders Project, Asia-Pacific Regional Women's Hearing on Gender-Based Violence in Conflict, Report on the Proceedings (2012), http://gbvkr.org/wp-content/ uploads/2013/01/Asia-Pacific-Regional-Womens-Hearing-on-GBVin-Conflict-2012-Report.pdf.
- 63. Cambodian Defenders Project, Asia-Pacific Regional Women's Hearing on Gender-Based Violence in Conflict.

- 64. Cambodian Defenders Project, Asia-Pacific Regional Women's Hearing on Gender-Based Violence in Conflict.
- 65. Cambodian Defenders Project, Asia-Pacific Regional Women's Hearing on Gender-Based Violence in Conflict.
- 66. Ramani Jayasundere, *Understanding Gendered Violence against Women in Sri Lanka*, Women Defining Peace (2009) http://assets. wusc.ca/Website/Programs/WDP/backgroundPaper.pdf.
- 67. Women's League of Burma, "If They Had Hope, They Would Speak," The Ongoing Use of State-sponsored Sexual Violence in Burma's Ethnic Communities, (2014), https:// nobelwomensinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/WLB_ Report-2014_English.pdf.
- 68. Human Rights Watch, "'All of My Body Was Pain' Sexual Violence against Rohingya Women and Girls in Burma," https://www.hrw. org/report/2017/11/16/all-my-body-was-pain/sexual-violenceagainst-rohingya-women-and-girls-burma.
- 69. Human Rights Watch. "'All of My Body Was Pain' Sexual Violence against Rohingya Women and Girls in Burma."
- 70. CEDAW, GR 30.
- 71. Sepali Kottegoda, "Ground Realities."
- 72. CEDAW, GR 30.
- 73. Centre for Reproductive Rights (CRR), "Ensuring Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights of Women and Girls Affected by Conflict," https://www.reproductiverights. org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/ga_bp_ conflictncrisis_2017_07_25.pdf.
- 74. "Girls Not Bride, Child Marriage in Humanitarian Crises," The Global Partnership to End Child Marriage. https://www. girlsnotbrides.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/Child-marriageand-humanitarian-crises-June-2016.pdf.
- 75. Yu Kojima, Rohingya Refugee and Migrant Women.
- 76. Sepali Kottegoda, "Ground Realities."
- 77. Rachael McGuin and Nang Lao Liang Won, Breaking Barriers: Advocating Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights, ARROW, 2016), http://arrow.org.my/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/ Myanmar-Burma-Country-Study.pdf.
- Sepali Kottegoda, Are Traditional Midwives History? 2008, http:// womenandmedia.org/international-womens-day-calendar-2014-2/.
- 79. Groundviews. "Coercive Population Control in Kilinochchi," https://groundviews.org/2013/09/13/coercive-populationcontrol-in-kilinochchi/.
- 80. CRR, Hidden Casualties: Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights and Sexual Violence in Conflict (2016), https://www.awid. org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/sexual_reproductive_rights_ sexual_violence_in_conflict.pdf.
- 81. CRR, Hidden Casualties.
- 82. CRR, "Ensuring Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights of Women and Girls Affected by Conflict."
- 83. Rosalinda P. Petchesky, "Conflict and Crisis Settings."
- 84. Rosalinda P. Petchesky, "Conflict and Crisis Settings."
- 85. CRR, "Ensuring Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights of Women and Girls Affected by Conflict."
- 86. Rosalinda P. Petchesky, "Conflict and Crisis Settings."
- 87. Sepali Kottegoda, Are Traditional Midwives History?
- 88. Rachael McGuin and Nang Lao Liang Won, Breaking Barriers.
- 89. Rachael McGuin and Nang Lao Liang Won, Breaking Barriers.
- 90. Inter-Agency Working Group on Reproductive Health in Crises (IAWG) is a broad-based, highly collaborative coalition of 20 Steering Committee member agencies, representing UN, government, nongovernment, research, and donor organizations. Formed in 1995, and currently a network of over 2,100 individual

members from 450 agencies, IAWG remains committed to advancing the sexual and reproductive health of people affected by conflict and natural disaster. See: Inter-Agency Working Group on Reproductive Health in Crises, http://iawg.net/ about-us/.

- 91. The Minimum Initial Service Package (MISP) for Reproductive Health (RH) is a set of priority activities to be implemented from the onset of a humanitarian crisis (conflict or natural disaster), and further scaled up and sustained to ensure equitable coverage throughout protracted crisis and recovery while planning is undertaken to implement comprehensive RH as soon as possible. See: The Minimum Initial Service Package (MISP) for Reproductive Health, https://iawg.net/wp-content/ uploads/2015/09/chapter1.pdf.
- 92. Sphere is a voluntary initiative that brings a wide range of humanitarian agencies together around a common aim: to improve the quality of humanitarian assistance and the accountability of humanitarian actors to their constituents, donors and affected populations. See: The Sphere Project, http://www.sphereproject. org/about/.
- 93. "Humanitarian Charter and Minimum Standards in Humanitarian Response," The Sphere Project, http://www.spherehandbook. org/en/essential-health-services-sexual-and-reproductive-healthstandard-1-reproductive-health/.
- 94. The bill directs authorities to impose restrictions on "birth spacing" that violate the right to privacy and a women's right to choose when to have children. It would require that there be a 36-month interval between each child and could allow forced contraception. The drafting process did not involve participation by women, especially those from ethnic and religious minorities, who will be most affected by the law. See: "Burma: Reject Discriminatory Population Bill," Human Rights Watch. https:// www.hrw.org/news/2015/05/16/burma-reject-discriminatorypopulation-bill.
- 95. Amrutha Gayathri, "Myanmar Imposes 2-Child Limit for Rohingya Muslims In Rakhine," International Business Times. http://www. ibtimes.com/myanmar-imposes-2-child-limit-rohingya-muslimsrakhine-1279617.
- 96. Human Rights Watch, "Burma: Revoke 'Two-Child Policy' For Rohingya," https://www.hrw.org/news/2013/05/28/burmarevoke-two-child-policy-rohingya.
- 97. Yu Kojima, Rohingya Refugee and Migrant Women.
- 98. Yu Kojima, Rohingya Refugee and Migrant Women.
- 99. Rachael McGuin and Nang Lao Liang Won, Breaking Barriers.
- 100. Communal violent conflict in Poso started on 24 December 1998: Christmas Eve and Ramadan. While the chain of events is contested, most accounts begin with three drunken Christian youths who came to Darussalam mosque in the village of Sayo late in the night of 24 December or in the early hours of 25 December and beat up a youth in a mosque.152 This incident left Muslims feeling vulnerable, leading them to attack Christian homes. News of this soon spread and many people tried to enter Poso city from the surrounding areas. Muslims came from Tokorondo, Parigi, and Ampana; while Christians armed with machetes came from Sepe, Silanca and Tentena. Riots continued until 29 December, spilling beyond the borders of the city and into towns along Poso's three major access roads.153 Although the conflict reflected religious divisions, it was also driven by local elites who are alleged to have encouraged the violence. See: Conflict Management in Indonesia - An Analysis of the Conflicts in Maluku, Papua and Poso, Centre for Humanitarian

Dialogue, https://www.hdcentre.org/wp-content/uploads /2016/08/5ConflictManagementinIndonesia-June-2011.pdf. 101. Sepali Kottegoda, "Ground Realities."

- 102. Radhika Coomaraswamy, Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace.
- 103. Cambodian Defenders Project, Asia-Pacific Regional Women's Hearing on Gender-Based Violence in Conflict.
- 104. Rachael McGuin and Nang Lao Liang Won, Breaking Barriers.
- 105. Cambodian Defenders Project, Asia-Pacific Regional Women's Hearing on Gender-Based Violence in Conflict.
- 106. APWAPS and WinG-India, Spectrum of Perspectives.
- 107. Cambodian Defenders Project, Asia-Pacific Regional Women's Hearing on Gender-Based Violence in Conflict.
- 108. Rachael McGuin and Nang Lao Liang Won, *Breaking Barriers*. 109. CEDAW, GR 30.
- 110. Yu Kojima, Rohingya Refugee and Migrant Women.
- 111. Yu Kojima, Rohingya Refugee and Migrant Women.
- 112. Yu Kojima, Rohingya Refugee and Migrant Women.
- 113. Yu Kojima, Rohingya Refugee and Migrant Women.
- 114. Yu Kojima, Rohingya Refugee and Migrant Women.
- 115. Rachael McGuin and Nang Lao Liang Won, Breaking Barriers.
- 116. Radhika Coomaraswamy, *Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace.*
- 117. Radhika Coomaraswamy, Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace.
- 118. "Report of the Secretary-General on Women and Peace and Security," United Nations Security Council. http://www. securitycouncilreport.org/atf/cf/%7B65BFCF9B-6D27-4E9C-8CD3-CF6E4FF96FF9%7D/s_2015_716.pdf.
- 119. Asia-Pacific Research Network (APRN). "Militarism and the agenda 2030," http://aprnet.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/APRN_ Militarism_rev2.pdf.
- 120. Radhika Coomaraswamy, Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace.
- 121. APWAPS and WinG-India, Spectrum of Perspectives.
- 122. Patti Petesch, Women's Empowerment Arising from Violent Conflict and Recovery, Life Stories from Four Women's Empowerment Arising from Four Middle-Income Countries, USAID (2011). https://www.usip.org/sites/default/files/Gender/Petesch_ Women_and_Conflict.pdf.
- 123. Nadine Puechguirbal, "The Cost of Ignoring Gender in Conflict and Post-Conflict Situations.
- 124. CEDAW, GR 30.
- 125. "From Resolution to Reality, Lessons Learned from Afghanistan, Nepal and Uganda on Women's Participation in Peacebuilding and Post-conflict Governance," CARE. http://insights. careinternational.org.uk/media/k2/attachments/CARE-FROM_ RESOLUTION_TO_REALITY.pdf.
- 126. Radhika Coomaraswamy, Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace.
- 127. Marjaana Jauhola, Indonesia: The Other Face of the Helsinki Peace Process, Aceh 10 Years Later, Women living under Muslim Laws. http://www.wluml.org/news/other-face-helsinki-peace-processaceh-10-years-later.
- 128. Radhika Coomaraswamy, Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace.
- 129. Resolution 1888 requests that the Under-Secretary General appoint a special representative on sexual violence during conflict; while 1889 urges member states and international and regional organisations to take further measures to improve women's participation during all stages of peace processes. Resolution 1960

reiterates its demand for the complete cessation with immediate effect by all parties to armed conflict of all acts of sexual violence and 2016 emphasises the importance of preventing sexual violence in conflict and of combating impunity for such crimes. Resolution 2122 promotes women's increased participation and leadership in conflict prevention and resolution and 2242 urges member states, in light of the High-level Review, to assess strategies and resources in the implementation of the WPS agenda.

- 130. "Official Documents for the Sixth Asian and Pacific Population Conference," UNESCAP. http://www.unescap.org/officialdocuments/asia-pacific-population-conference/session/6.
- 131. "National Action Plans for the Implementation of UNSCR 1325 on Women Peace and Security," Peace Women. http://www. peacewomen.org/member-states.
- 132. The eight countries are Afghanistan, Indonesia, Iraq, Japan, Nepal, Philippines, Rep. of Korea, Timor Leste. See: National Action Plans for the Implementation of UNSCR 1325 on Women Peace and Security," Peace Women. http://www.peacewomen.org/memberstates.
- 133. Peace Women, National Action Plans for the Implementation of UNSCR 1325 on Women Peace and Security."
- 134. Asia-Pacific Women's Alliance for Peace and Security (APWAPS), Grounding 2015: Global Commitments for a Transformative Agenda on Peace and Security in Asia and the Pacific, 2015, http://www.dawnnet.org/feminist-resources/sites/default/files/ articles/apwaps_grounding_booklet_oct_2015.pdf.
- 135. APWAPS, Grounding 2015.
- 136. Radhika Coomaraswamy, *Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace.*
- 137. CEDAW, GR 30.
- 138. CEDAW, GR 30.
- 139. APRN, "Militarism and the agenda 2030."
- 140. "Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action." Women Watch. http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/pdf/BDPfA%20E. pdf.
- 141. "The Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action Turns 20," UN Women, Summary Report 2015. http://www.unwomen. org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/ publications/2015/sg%20report_synthesis-en_web. pdf?la=en&vs=5547.
- 142. CRR, "Ensuring Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights of Women and Girls Affected by Conflict."
- 143. CRR, "Ensuring Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights of Women and Girls Affected by Conflict."
- 144.ICRC, "The Protection of Women in International Humanitarian Law," https://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/article/ other/57jmfj.htm.
- 145. ICRC, "The Protection of Women in International Humanitarian Law.
- 146.ICRC, "The Protection of Women in International Humanitarian Law.
- 147. Sofia Lotto Persio, What is the Istanbul Convention and why it is a crucial tool to end gender-based violence? International Business Times. https://www.ibtimes.co.uk/what-istanbul-convention-why-it-crucial-tool-end-gender-based-violence-1593493.
- 148. Sofia Lotto Persio, What is the Istanbul Convention and Why it is a Crucial Tool to End Gender-based Violence?
- 149. Nadine Puechguirbal, "The Cost of Ignoring Gender in Conflict and Post-Conflict Situations.
- 150. APWAPS and WinG-India, Spectrum of Perspectives.
- 151. CEDAW, GR 30.

- 152. APWAPS, Grounding 2015.
- 153. CEDAW, GR 30.
- 154. "Financing 1325; A New Research Study by CORDAID and GNWP," Asia-Pacific Women's Alliance for Peace and Security (AWAPS), https://apwaps.net/2014/10/29/financing-1325-a-new-researchstudy-by-cordaid-and-gnwp/.
- 155. Rosalinda P. Petchesky, "Conflict and Crisis Settings."
- 156. Rosalinda P. Petchesky, "Conflict and Crisis Settings."

BIBLIOGRAPHY

.

- Absolute Crime. "Comfort Women: A History of Japanese Forced Prostitution During the Second World War," Absolute Crime. http://www.absolutecrime.com/comfort-women-a-history-ofjapanese-forced-prostitution-during-the-second-world-war.html#. WtBZvi5ubIV.
- Asia- Pacific Research Network (APRN). "Militarism and the Agenda 2030." http://aprnet.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/APRN_ Militarism rev2.pdf.
- Asia-Pacific Women's Alliance for Peace and Security (APWAPS). Grounding 2015, Global Commitments for a Transformative Agenda on Peace and Security in Asia and the Pacific. (2015).
- APWAPS. "Financing 1325; A New Research Study by CORDAID and GNWP." https://apwaps.net/2014/10/29/financing-1325-a-new-research-study-by-cordaid-and-gnwp/.
- APWAPS. Women in Governance, (WinG)-India. Spectrum of Perspectives: Review and Analysis of UNSCR 1325 in Asia-Pacific Region (2015). http://www.peacewomen.org/system/files/global_ study_submissions/Online%20Dialogue%200n%20UNSCR.pdf.
- BBC News. "Oxfam Haiti Allegations: How the Scandal Unfolded." http://www.bbc.com/news/uk-43112200.
- BBC News. "Philippines Unrest: Who are the Abu Sayyaf Group?" http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-36138554.
- BBC News. "Why is the South China Sea Contentious." Accessed November 2017, http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asiapacific-13748349.
- Cader, Azra. Ending Child Early and Forced Marriage: SRHR as Central to the Solution. Kuala Lumpur: ARROW, 2017. http://arrow.org. my/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Thematic-Paper-on-Ending-Child-Early-and-Forced-Marriage.pdf.
- Cambodia Defenders Project. Asia-Pacific Regional Women's Hearing on Gender-Based Violence in Conflict, (2012). http://gbvkr.org/ wp-content/uploads/2013/01/Asia-Pacific-Regional-Womens-Hearing-on-GBV-in-Conflict-2012-Report.pdf.
- Centre for Humanitarian Dialogue. "Conflict Management in Indonesia – An Analysis of the Conflicts in Maluku, Papua and Poso." https:// www.hdcentre.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/5ConflictManag ementinIndonesia-June-2011.pdf.

Centre for Reproductive Rights (CRR). "Ensuring Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights of Women and Girls Affected by Conflict." https://www.reproductiverights. org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/ga_bp_ conflictncrisis_2017_07_25.pdf.

- Centre for Reproductive Rights. *Hidden Casualties: Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights and Sexual Violence in Conflict.* (2016). https://www.awid.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/ sexual_reproductive_rights_sexual_violencein_conflict.pdf.
- Chandrakirana, Kamala. Implementing the Women, Peace and Security Agenda in Asia: Towards a Context-responsive Approach from the Bottom Up, A Scoping Study commissioned by Women's Leadership for Peace and Security Programme Cordaid (2013). https://apwaps.files.wordpress.com/2014/08/scoping-study-wpsin-asia.pdf.
- Coomaraswamy, Radhika. Preventing Conflict Transforming Justice Securing the Peace: A Global Study on the Implementation of United Nations Security Council resolution 1325. United States: UN Women, 2015. http://www.peacewomen.org/sites/default/files/ UNW-GLOBAL-STUDY-1325-2015%20(1).pdf.
- Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW). General Recommendation No. 30 on Women in Conflict Prevention, Conflict and Post-conflict Situations. (2013). http://www.ohchr.org/documents/hrbodies/cedaw/gcomments/ cedaw.c.cg.30.pdf.
- Development Studies Network. Women, Gender and Development in The Pacific: Key Issues, Conflict and Peacemaking: Gender Perspectives. https://openresearch-repository.anu.edu.au/ bitstream/1885/113443/1/gen_civil.pdf.
- Essa, Azad. "Why Do Some Peacekeepers Rape? The Full Report" Aljazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/2017/08/ peacekeepers-rape-full-report-170804134221292.html.
- Gayathri, Amrutha. "Myanmar Imposes 2-Child Limit for Rohingya Muslims In Rakhine." International Business Times. http://www. ibtimes.com/myanmar-imposes-2-child-limit-rohingya-muslimsrakhine-1279617.
- Glaser, Bonnie S. *Conflict in the South China Sea*. Council on Foreign Relations (2015). https://cfrd8-files.cfr.org/sites/default/files/ pdf/2015/04/CPM_Update_South_China_Sea_.pdf.
- Girls Not Bride (GNB). Child Marriage in Humanitarian Crises," The Global Partnership to End Child Marriage. https://www. girlsnotbrides.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/Child-marriageand-humanitarian-crises-June-2016.pdf.
- Groundviews. "Coercive Population Control in Kilinochchi." https:// groundviews.org/2013/09/13/coercive-population-control-inkilinochchi/.
- Gunda Werner Institute. Feminism and Gender Democracy, Feminist Perspectives on Peace and Security, (2010). http://www.gwi-boell. de/en/2010/07/30/feminist-perspectives-peace-and-security.
- Human Rights Watch, "All of My Body Was Pain" Sexual Violence Against Rohingya Women and Girls in Burma." https://www.hrw. org/report/2017/11/16/all-my-body-was-pain/sexual-violenceagainst-rohingya-women-and-girls-burma.
- Human Rights Watch. "Burma: Reject Discriminatory Population Bill." https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/05/16/burma-rejectdiscriminatory-population-bill.
- Human Rights Watch. "Burma: Revoke 'Two-Child Policy' for Rohingya." https://www.hrw.org/news/2013/05/28/burma-revoke-two-childpolicy-rohingya.
- Inter-Agency Support Group on Indigenous Peoples. Elimination and Responses to Violence, Exploitation and Abuse of Indigenous Girls, Adolescents and Young Women, Thematic Paper Towards the Preparation of the 2014 World Conference on Indigenous Peoples. http://www.un.org/en/ga/president/68/pdf/wcip/IASG%20 Thematic%20Paper_%20Violence%20against%20Girls%20and%20 Women%20-%20rev1.pdf.

- Inter-Agency Working Group on Reproductive Health and Crises (IAWG). "About IAWG." http://iawg.net/about-us/.
- Inter-Agency Working Group. The Minimum Service Package for Reproductive Health. https://iawg.net/wp-content/ uploads/2015/09/chapter1.pdf.
- International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC). Protracted Conflict and Humanitarian Action: Some Recent ICRC Experiences (2016), https://www.icrc.org/sites/default/files/document/file_list/ protracted_conflict_and_humanitarian_action_icrc_report_ lr 29.08.16.pdf.
- Jayasundere, Ramani. Understanding Gendered Violence Against Women in Sri Lanka, Women Defining Peace. (2009). http://assets. wusc.ca/Website/Programs/WDP/backgroundPaper.pdf.
- Kojima, Yu. "Rohingya Refugee and Migrant Women Shadowed by Sexual and Gender-based Violence" *Our World*, United Nations University. (2015). https://ourworld.unu.edu/en/rohingya-refugeeand-migrant-women-shadowed-by-sexual-and-gender-basedviolence.
- Kottegoda, Sepali. Are Traditional Midwives History? (2008). http:// womenandmedia.org/international-womens-day-calendar-2014-2/.
- Kottegoda, Sepali. "Ground Realities: Women's Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights in Conflict Situations," ARROWs for Change, Vol. 13 No. 3 2007, http://arrow.org.my/wp-content/ uploads/2015/04/AFC-Vol.13-No.3-2007_Conflict.pdf.
- Krug, Etienne G. et.al. [ed.]. World Report on Violence and Health, World Health Organisation (WHO), 147-174, 2002. http://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42495/9241545615_eng. pdf?sequence=1.
- London School of Economics (LSE). "Crisis, Fragile and Failed States." http://www.lse.ac.uk/internationalDevelopment/research/ crisisStates/download/drc/FailedState.pdf.
- Malley, Robert. "10 Conflicts to Watch in 2018." International Crises Group (2018). https://www.crisisgroup.org/global/10-conflictswatch-2018.
- McGuin, Rachael, and Nang Lao Liang Won. *Myanmar/Burma Breaking Barriers: Advocating Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights*. Kuala Lumpur. ARROW, 2016. http://arrow.org.my/wp-content/ uploads/2016/02/Myanmar-Burma-Country-Study.pdf.
- Miller, Christopher E. A Glossary of Terms and Concepts in Peace and Conflict Studies. University for Peace, 2005. https://www.upeace. org/pdf/glossaryv2.pdf.
- Morris, Catherine. "Definitions in the Field of Conflict Transformation." http://www.peacemakers.ca/publications/ADRdefinitions.html.
- NY Daily News. "United Nations Peacekeepers Gave Haitian Women Food, Medicine in Exchange for Sex, Report Reveals." http://www. nydailynews.com/news/world/peacekeepers-gave-haitian-womenfood-exchange-sex-article-1.2252746.
- Peace Insight. "Myanmar Conflict Profile." https://www.peaceinsight. org/conflicts/myanmar/.
- Petchesky, Rosalind P. "Conflict and Crisis Settings: Promoting Sexual and Reproductive Rights" *Reproductive Health Matters* (2008), http://www.gdnonline.org/resources/RHM31_Editorial_Conflict_ Crisis Settings.pdf.
- Petesch, Patti. Women's Empowerment Arising from Violent Conflict and Recovery, Life Stories from Four Women's Empowerment Arising from Four Middle-Income Countries, USAID (2011). https:// www.usip.org/sites/default/files/Gender/Petesch_Women_and_ Conflict.pdf.

- Puechguirbal, Nadine. "The Cost of Ignoring Gender in Conflict and Post-conflict Situations: A Feminist Perspective," *Amsterdam Law Forum*, Vol. 4, 2-12, 2012. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers. cfm?abstract_id=2007625.
- Reilly, Benjamin. Internal Conflict and Regional Security in Asia and the Pacific. Australian National University Pacifica Review, Volume 14, Number 1, February (2002). https://crawford.anu.edu.au/pdf/ staff/ben_reilly/internal_conflict.pdf.
- Stewart, Frances, and Langer, Arnim. Horizontal Inequalities: Explaining persistence and change. https://www.ifw-kiel.de/konfer/2006/ preg/stewart_langer.pdf.
- Thanenthiran, Sivananthi, Sai J.M. Racherla, and Jahanath,Suloshini. Reclaiming and Redefining Rights: ICPD+20: Status of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights in Asia Pacific. Kuala Lumpur: ARROW, 2013), 22. http://arrow.org.my/wp-content/ uploads/2015/04/ICPD-20-Asia-Pacific_Monitoring-Report_2013. pdf.
- The Guardian. "Rodrigo Duterte jokes to soldiers that they can rape women with impunity." https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2017/may/27/rodrigo-duterte-jokes-to-soldiers-that-theycan-women-with-impunity.
- The New York Times. "Tribunal Rejects Beijing's Claim in South China Sea." https://www.nytimes.com/2016/07/13/world/asia/southchina-sea-hague-ruling-philippines.html.
- The Sphere Project. "Humanitarian Charter and Minimum Standards in Humanitarian Response." http://www.spherehandbook.org/en/ essential-health-services-sexual-and-reproductive-health-standard-1-reproductive-health/.
- The Sphere Project. "Sphere in Brief." http://www.sphereproject.org/ about/.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). Defining Sexual Health: Report of a Technical Consultation on Sexual Health, January 28-31, 2002, Geneva. Geneva. World Health Organisation, 2006.
- Women's League of Burma, "If they had hope, they would speak," The ongoing use of state-sponsored sexual violence in Burma's ethnic communities, (2014). https://nobelwomensinitiative.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/11/WLB_Report-2014_English.pdf.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). "Figures at a Glance." http://www.unhcr.org/en-my/figures-at-a-glance.html.
- UNHCR. "Internally Displaced People." http://www.unhcr.org/ internally-displaced-people.html.
- UNHCR. Overview of UNHCR's Operations in Asia and the Pacific. Standing Committee 65th Meeting (2016). http://www.unhcr. org/56cd75c29.pdf.
- United Nations Secretary General. Report of the Secretary General on Conflict Related Sexual Violence. (2018).
- United Nations Security Council. "Report of the Secretary-General on women and peace and security." http://www. securitycouncilreport.org/atf/cf/%7B65BFCF9B-6D27-4E9C-8CD3-CF6E4FF96FF9%7D/s 2015 716.pdf.

Redefining Peace: Interlinkages of Conflict, Gender, and Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights

ARROW is a regional and non-profit women's NGO based in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, and has consultative status with the Economic and Social Council of the United Nations. Established in 1993, it envisions an equal, just, and equitable world, where every woman enjoys her full sexual and reproductive rights. ARROW promotes and defends women's rights and needs, particularly in the areas of health and sexuality, and to reaffirm their agency to claim these rights.

ARROW receives core funding/institutional support from the Ford Foundation and FJS.

Asian-Pacific Resource & Research Centre for Women (ARROW) 1 & 2 Jalan Scott, Brickfields 50470, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Telephone	00 603 2273 9913/9914
Fax	00 603 2273 9916
E-mail	arrow@arrow.org.my
Web	www.arrow.org.my
Facebook	https://www.facebook.com/ARROW.Women
Twitter	@ARROW_Women
Youtube	ARROWomen
Pinterest	arrowomen

Asia-Pacific Women's Alliance for Peace and Security (APWAPS) https://apwaps.net/



